
Page 1 of 3

Notice of Meeting 

Cabinet Member for All-Age 
Learning Decisions
Date & time Place Contact Chief Executive 
Friday, 31 January 
2020 at 3.30 pm

Members' Conference 
Room, County Hall, 
Penrhyn Road, 
Kingston upon 
Thames, Surrey, KT1 
2DN

Joss Butler
020 8541 9702
Room 122, County Hall, 
Penrhyn Road Kingston 
upon Thames KT1 2DN
joss.butler@surreycc.gov.uk

Joanna Killian

If you would like a copy of this agenda or the attached papers in 
another format, eg large print or braille, or another language please 
either call 020 8541 9122, write to Democratic Services, Room 122, 
County Hall, Penrhyn Road, Kingston upon Thames, Surrey KT1 
2DN, Minicom 020 8541 8914, fax 020 8541 9009, or email 
joss.butler@surreycc.gov.uk.

This meeting will be held in public.  If you would like to attend and you 
have any special requirements, please contact Joss Butler on 020 
8541 9702.

Cabinet Member
Mrs Julie Iles (Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning)



Page 2 of 3

AGENDA

1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter 

i. Any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or 
ii. Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in respect of any 

item(s) of business being considered at this meeting

NOTES:
 Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item 

where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest
 As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any interest, of 

which the Member is aware, that relates to the Member’s spouse or 
civil partner (or any person with whom the Member is living as a 
spouse or civil partner)

 Members with a significant personal interest may participate in the 
discussion and vote on that matter unless that interest could be 
reasonably regarded as prejudicial.

2 PROCEDURAL MATTERS

a Members' Questions

The deadline for Members’ questions is 12pm four working days before 
the meeting (27/01/20).

b Public Questions

The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting 
(24/01/20).

c Petitions

The deadline for petitions was 14 days before the meeting, and no 
petitions have been received.

3 HOME TO SCHOOL/COLLEGE TRAVEL AND TRANSPORT POLICY

The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Cabinet Member 
for All-Age Learning to implement a revised Home to School/College 
Travel Assistance and Transport Policy following the conclusion of a 
twelve week public consultation. The three most significant changes relate 
to discretionary transport provision for children and young people, 
including those with special educational needs and disabilities, and are set 
out in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of this report. 

(Pages 5 
- 82)

Joanna Killian
Chief Executive

Published: 23 January 2020



Page 3 of 3

MOBILE TECHNOLOGY AND FILMING – ACCEPTABLE USE

Those attending for the purpose of reporting on the meeting may use social media or mobile 
devices in silent mode to send electronic messages about the progress of the public parts of 
the meeting.  To support this, County Hall has wifi available for visitors – please ask at 
reception for details.

Anyone is permitted to film, record or take photographs at council meetings with the 
Chairman’s consent.  Please liaise with the council officer listed in the agenda prior to the start 
of the meeting so that the Chairman can grant permission and those attending the meeting can 
be made aware of any filming taking place.  

Use of mobile devices, including for the purpose of recording or filming a meeting, is subject to 
no interruptions, distractions or interference being caused to the PA or Induction Loop systems, 
or any general disturbance to proceedings. The Chairman may ask for mobile devices to be 
switched off in these circumstances.

It is requested that if you are not using your mobile device for any of the activities outlined 
above, it be switched off or placed in silent mode during the meeting to prevent interruptions 
and interference with PA and Induction Loop systems.

Thank you for your co-operation

FIELD_TITLE



This page is intentionally left blank



SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL
 
CABINET MEMBER FOR ALL-AGE LEARNING

DATE: 31 January 2020

LEAD OFFICER:   Dave Hill, Executive Director for Children, Families, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture

SUBJECT: Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy

COMMUNITY VISION OUTCOME: People

SUMMARY OF ISSUE:

The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Cabinet Member for All-Age 
Learning to implement a revised Home to School/College Travel Assistance and 
Transport Policy following the conclusion of a twelve week public consultation. The 
three most significant changes relate to discretionary transport provision for children 
and young people, including those with special educational needs and disabilities, 
and are set out in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of this report. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:

It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning considers and 
takes into account the analysis of the responses to the public consultation (Annex A), 
the equality impact assessment and the mitigations of key concerns and impacts 
(Annex B), and 

1. endorses the strong focus on independence and preparation for adulthood in 
the new policy

2. approves the recommended three policy options that were the subject of 
consultation covering

2.1 transport for children below the age of 5 (paragraph 12)

2.2 transport for children of compulsory school age who turn 8 (paragraph 13)

2.3 transport for young people aged 17 – 18 (paragraph 14) 

3. approves Surrey County Council’s Home to School/College Travel Assistance 
and Transport Policy (Annex C)

4. approves the policy implementation timetable (paragraphs 15-16)

Page 5

Item 3



REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:

The Council has a responsibility to support greater independence of young people as 
an important step towards adulthood and to enabling them to fulfil their potential.  
Equally, the Council has a responsibility to meet its statutory duties related to home 
to school transport for eligible children and young people.  The proposed policy 
meets these statutory duties and the implementation timetable allows families and 
young people sufficient time to prepare for changes to discretionary provision. 

DETAILS:

Background to the consultation:

1. Surrey County Council reviewed and consulted on its home to school/college 
travel and transport policy.  This is something all councils are required to do 
periodically, and in doing this, the Council is seeking opportunities to improve 
outcomes for children and young people in Surrey, particularly those with 
special educational needs and disabilities (SEND).  The policy is intended to 
make sure the Council continues to be able to deliver its statutory 
responsibilities.  However, our analysis and comparisons with other areas 
indicated that currently poor practice and culture are driving poor outcomes for 
children and young people in Surrey and high costs.  The consultation 
document provided examples of this.  

2. On 16 July 2019, Cabinet agreed a set of design principles to shape the new 
Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy:

a) Social integration of children and young people whatever their needs
b) Independence for children and young people with SEND
c) Promotion of parental responsibility to make any necessary arrangements to 

ensure their children attend school
d) School responsibility to collaborate with the council on SEN transport and for 

the behaviour of children outside the school premises
e) Equity
f) Environmentally sustainable transport
g) Efficient use of public resources

3. Engagement with young people with SEND in Surrey confirmed that young 
people value independence highly, and that they want their parents, schools 
and the services that support them to help them prepare for adulthood, 
including continued access to education, employment opportunities and access 
to essential services and activities in the community.  The ability to travel 
independently is important to them now to attend school, participate in 
community life and socialise with friends; it is also fundamental to their future 
ambitions. Through the consultation, the Council proposed that its policy more 
strongly supports independence.  

4. A twelve-week public consultation opened on 23 September 2019 and closed 
on 15 December 2019.  The approved design principles shaped the focus of the 
consultation which featured a strong focus on supporting independence and 
preparation for adulthood for young people with SEND, as well as flexible travel 
arrangements for parents and carers who have multiple commitments.  The full 
consultation document outlined the reasons the Council was reviewing its 
policy, how it was consulting, its intention to provide greater focus on promoting 

Page 6



independence for young people and three policy options regarding current 
discretionary provision of home to school/college transport.   

5. In addition to an on-line survey, the Council held nine public engagement 
events across the county in both daytime and evening attended by parents, 
young people, professionals and representatives of groups such as Family 
Voice Surrey and Healthwatch Surrey.  Young people provided their views 
through focus groups sessions led by SEND Youth Advisers Surrey (SYAS), 
and school leaders through sessions with the phase council representatives 
(early years, primary, secondary and special).  Family Voice Surrey were 
consulted on their views. 

Supporting independence and preparation for adulthood:

6. The SEND Code of Practice states:  ‘The vast majority of young people with 
SEN are capable of sustainable paid employment with the right 
preparation and support.  All professionals working with them should 
share that presumption.’  (para 8.31) Enabling a young person to fulfil their 
potential can be greatly enhanced by supporting them to travel independently, 
as employers very rarely provide home to work transport for their staff.   Many 
councils have had significant success of this and have seen improved 
outcomes for their young people with SEND.  

7. In Surrey, our review of the pathways that young people follow after their 
Education, Health and Care plan (EHCP) ceases indicates that approximately 
4% of children and young people with an EHCP are likely to transition into 
continuing health care funded by the NHS due to significant health care needs, 
when they become adults.  A further 11% of children with an EHCP are likely to 
transition into Adult Social Care when their EHCP ceases.  This means that for 
85% of children and young people with an EHCP, the Council’s support for 
them will cease by the age of 25 at the very latest.  In Surrey, as at 6 January 
2020, there are 9,820 children and young people with an EHCP, and the vast 
majority of them could be supported onto an employment pathway, with 
preparation to travel independently a key component.  

8. The consultation sought feedback and views on how young people might 
benefit from this support.  See Annex A for a summary and analysis of the 
consultation feedback.  

Review of discretionary provision:

9. Parents have a legal responsibility to ensure that their statutory school-aged 
children (5-16) regularly attend school and to make any necessary 
arrangements to ensure that they attend school.  Local authorities have a 
statutory duty to provide free home to school travel assistance or transport for 
children and young people of compulsory school age (5-16) who meet the 
eligibility requirements set by the Department for Education. Support with travel 
to access education for children or young people who do not meet these criteria 
is a discretionary service decided locally by each council.

10. The consultation asked for views on three areas of existing discretionary 
provision that are in excess of the Council’s statutory responsibilities.  These 
are:

Page 7



a) Travel and transport for children below the age of 5 (below compulsory 
school age)

b) Travel and transport for children turning 8 living between 2 and 3 miles from 
their nearest available school (statutory mileage distance change)

c) Travel and transport for young people over the age of 16 (over compulsory 
school age of 16)

11. For each proposal, consultees were asked to consider two options.  The 
Council indicated its preferred choice at the time of publishing the consultation 
to provide transparency, however no decision had been made.  Responses to 
the consultation and the equality impact assessment must be taken into 
consideration when a final decision is made by the Cabinet Member for All-Age 
Learning.
  

12. Taking into account the analysis of the responses to the public consultation 
(Annex A), the equality impact assessment and the mitigations of key concerns 
and impacts (Annex B), the recommended policy option is that Surrey County 
Council will cease to provide free home to school transport to an infant or 
primary school for a child under the age of five, where a child is likely to be 
deemed as eligible once they turn five years of age. The Council’s proposed 
policy (Annex C) reflects this recommendation.

13. Taking into account the analysis of the responses to the public consultation 
(Annex A), the equality impact assessment and the mitigations of key concerns 
and impacts (Annex B), the recommended policy option is that Surrey County 
Council will cease to provide home to school transport at the end of the term in 
which a child turns 8 where the child has been eligible due to living more than 2 
miles but less than 3 miles from their nearest school. The Council’s proposed 
policy (Annex C) reflects this recommendation.

14. Taking into account the analysis of the responses to the public consultation 
(Annex A), the equality impact assessment and the mitigations of key concerns 
and impacts (Annex B), the recommended policy option is that, in line with 
statutory responsibilities, Surrey County Council will cease to provide home to 
school/college travel assistance for young people ages 17 -18, unless 
exceptional circumstances apply.   The Council would continue to promote the 
use of the Student Fare Card Scheme, 16-17 Saver and Disabled Person’s Bus 
Pass Scheme, which offer discounted travel on bus and rail services, to all post 
16 year old students. The Council’s proposed policy (Annex C) reflects this 
recommendation.

Implementation timetable:

15. Taking into account the analysis of the responses to the public consultation 
(Annex A), the equality impact assessment and the mitigations of key concerns 
and impacts (Annex B) and the relevant legislation, the recommended 
implementation timetable for these policy options is as follows:

a) Travel and transport for children below the age of 5 (below compulsory 
school age) – for September 2020 (Academic year 2020/21)

b) Travel and transport for children turning 8 living between 2 and 3 miles from 
their nearest available school (statutory mileage distance change) – for 
September 2021 (Academic year 2021/22) 

Page 8



c) Travel and transport for young people over age of 16 (over compulsory 
school age of 16) – for September 2020 (Academic year 2020/21)

16. Subject to Cabinet Member decision, the policy attached at Annex C would be 
published on 10 February 2020.   This implementation timetable implements 
travel arrangements that are predictable for the family and child or young 
person and for which they can reasonably prepare.  For a post 16 young person 
in receipt of travel assistance in academic year 2019/20 who is continuing a 
course in academic year 2020/21, the Council will promote and support 
independent travel options, taking into account the young person’s needs and 
abilities.

CONSULTATION:

17. The table below sets out the extensive consultation and engagement that has 
taken place.   Events have been publicised via the Council’s website, the 
Council’s public consultation page (Surrey Says), the Council’s social media 
channels, the Local Offer, by schools directly to their parent and carer 
communities and by direct email to current service users.

18. The engagement sessions have been enhanced with a video explaining the 
consultation and hearing the voices of young people with SEND and their 
Headteacher explain the difference independent travel makes to young 
people’s lives.  The video is available at the following link: 
https://youtu.be/xLIjELp4NIM 

19. Engagement with settings has been co-ordinated through Phase Council 
meetings during the Autumn 2019 term.  A focus group specifically for special 
school Headteachers was held on 11 November 2019. 

20. The Children’s, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee was 
provided with a summary of the key feedback through the consultation at its 
meeting on 13 December 2019.   The Committee discussed the proposals and 
a record of its discussions is available in the minutes of the meeting:
 
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=791&MId=7198&
Ver=4

Date Event Description
25 June 2019 Pre-Consultation Engagement with Young People (SYAS)
5 September Pre-Consultation Engagement with Young People (SYAS)

18 September Pre-Consultation Engagement with Young People (SYAS)
23 September Consultation opened

1 October Public Engagement Event - 11 am – 1pm (Surrey History Centre - Woking) 1 of 
8

4 October Special Phase Council - 8.15am– 3pm at The Hilton Hotel, Cobham
11 October Public Engagement Event – 11 am – 1pm (Guildford Borough Council) 2 of 8

23 October Public Engagement Event – 11am – 1pm (Molesey Youth & Community Centre) 
3 of 8

Page 9

https://youtu.be/xLIjELp4NIM
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=791&MId=7198&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=791&MId=7198&Ver=4


6 November Public Engagement Event – 11am – 1pm (Wray Park Road, Reigate) 4 of 8
7 November SYAS Engagement Event - Woking 7th November 17:30-19:30

11 November Special Phase Council Engagement Event (SEN Headteachers)
14 November Public Engagement Event – 6pm – 8pm (Therfield School) 5 of 8
19 November SYAS Engagement Event – Epsom, 17:30-19:30
19 November Primary Phase Council - 8.30am – 1pm at Milestone House
22 November Public Engagement Event – 6pm – 8pm (Guildford Borough Council) 6 of 8
25 November Family Voice Surrey Annual Event and AGM – Dorking Halls
26 November Secondary Phase Council - 2.15pm at Therfield School
27 November Public Engagement Event – 6pm – 8pm (Carwenden House School) 7 of 8

2 December Parent Transport Forum – 10.30 – 12.30pm at Quadrant Court, Woking
3 December Public Engagement Event – 6pm – 8pm (Walton Leigh School) 8 of 8

13 December Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture (CFLC) Select Committee 
Meeting (Guildford Borough Council)

15 December Consultation Closed

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

21. The Council’s home to school/college travel and transport policy is a county-
wide policy which will apply equally to all districts and boroughs and electoral 
division.  The policy and the practice that results from it are intended to be 
consistent across all districts and borough and should enable greater 
consistency of practice and equity of provision of home to school travel 
assistance.  It will encourage the use of more environmentally sustainable 
forms of transport, supporting young people to walk, cycle and use public 
transport such as local buses and trains.  

22. The implementation timetable implements travel arrangements that are 
predictable for the family and child or young person and for which they can 
reasonably prepare.

Financial and value for money implications:

23. Surrey County Council currently provides significant discretionary home to 
school transport provision for children with SEND and some discretionary 
provision for mainstream children.  As a consequence of this, the Council is a 
significant outlier in terms of spend on SEND travel assistance, which was 
confirmed by independent analysis and benchmarking.  Looking at 2017/18 and 
comparing Surrey’s spend on SEND transport per 0- 17 year old with that of 
Hertfordshire and Essex (counties of similar populations, demographics and 
geographies) Surrey spends 2.5 – 3 times more than these councils.  

24. Expenditure on home to schools transport for children with SEND of £33.3 
million per year is equivalent to approximately 5% of the yield from the Council 
Tax.  To ensure the effective delivery of the Council’s statutory responsibilities 
for home to school travel and transport for children and young people, changes 

Page 10



have to be considered to secure effective public spending and the efficient use 
of public resources. 

Section 151 Officer commentary:

25. Although significant progress has been made over the last twelve months to 
improve the Council’s financial position, the medium term financial outlook is 
uncertain as it is heavily dependent on decisions made by Central Government. 
With no clarity on these beyond 2020/21, our working assumption is that 
financial resources will continue to be constrained, as they have been for the 
majority of the past decade. This places an onus on the Council to continue to 
consider issues of financial sustainability as a priority in order to ensure stable 
provision of services in the medium term. As such, the Section 151 Officer 
supports the review of the Transport policy and associated recommendations 
within this report.

26. There are no specific MTFS savings attached to Transport in the Council’s 
20/21 budget.  However, during 2019/20 there is a forecast overspend of £3.1m 
across all home to school transport.  The recommendations within this report 
are estimated to reduce costs by c£1.6m helping to mitigate the current 
overspend.

Legal implications – Monitoring Officer:

27. Parents have a primary responsibility for ensuring that their children attend 
school regularly and this includes the obligation to transport them. However, the 
Education Act 1996 (as amended) and associated statutory guidance set out 
the Council’s duties and powers to provide assistance with home to 
school/college transport in relation to pre-school children, children of 
compulsory school age, post 16 (sixth form) students and adult learners up to 
the age of 25.

28. In summary:
 There is no duty to provide free home to school travel assistance 

to pre-school children but the Council has a discretion to provide 
it.

 Eligible children of compulsory school age (5-16) must be 
provided with free home to school transport assistance.

 There is no duty to provide free home to school/college travel 
assistance to post 16 learners. The Council is required to publish 
an annual policy statement specifying the arrangements for the 
provision of transport that the Council considers necessary to 
facilitate the attendance of all persons of sixth form age receiving 
education or training. Any transport provided by the Council is 
discretionary and does not have to be free of charge.

 In the case of adult learners (aged 19 and over) the Council is 
required to make such arrangements for the provision of 
assistance with transport as it considers necessary. If assistance 
with transport is considered necessary it must be provided free of 
charge

Page 11



29. The Cabinet Member is being asked to approve changes to the Council’s Home 
to School/College Travel and Transport Policy which mean that the Council will 
cease to provide travel assistance to cohorts of children and young people for 
whom there is a discretion to provide. The proposals were the subject of an 
extensive 12 week public consultation exercise and an analysis of the 
responses has been provided. The Cabinet Member must consider the 
outcomes of the consultation and conscientiously take them into account in 
reaching her decision. 

30. The Council owes a fiduciary duty to its council tax payers which is analogous 
to that owed by trustees looking after property that belongs to others. 
Accordingly, in deciding how money should be spent, the Cabinet Member 
should take into account the interests of residents who have contributed to the 
Council’s income and balance those interests against those who benefit from 
the expenditure.

31. The public sector equality duty applies to this decision. There is a need to have 
due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity for people with 
protected characteristics, foster good relations between such groups and 
eliminate any unlawful discrimination. These matters are dealt with in 
paragraphs 32 onwards of this report and in the equality impact assessment 
which is provided with this report. The Cabinet member will see that negative 
impacts have been identified and when reaching her decision, she will need to 
take account of these and any mitigating actions.

Equalities and diversity:

32. Delivery of the outcomes sought through the design principles of the policy will 
promote independence and preparation for adulthood for children and young 
people, more efficient use of public resources and enable the Council to 
continue to deliver its statutory responsibilities for home to school transport.  

33. The three policy changes regarding discretionary provision that were the 
subject of consultation affect the specific groups of children and young people 
set out in paragraph 10 of this report.  The Council’s Equality Impact 
Assessment (Annex B) identified both potential negative and positive impacts 
for these three groups.  The main potential negative impact for each of the 
three groups is access to education.  The main potential positive impact for 
these three groups is incentivising more children and young people to attend 
local provision.  For all children and young people there is a further positive 
impact of promoting independence and preparation for adulthood.

34. The Council will mitigate the potential negative impact on these three specific 
groups of children and young people by communicating the changes widely to 
children and young people and their families through the Surrey Local Offer, 
through schools and directly to the parents and carers of the three specific 
groups of children and young people.  This will enable them to prepare and 
make alternative travel arrangements where required.  

35. Based on the Council’s analysis of 2019/20 travel assistance for these three 
specific groups, the approximate number of children and young people likely to 
be affected for September 2020 are:

Page 12



 4 year olds – 150 children (affected for 1 – 3 terms)
 Post 16 – up to 450 young people

and for September 2021 are:

 8 year olds – 60 children  (affected for 1 – 2 terms)

36. For each group the Council can exercise its discretion to provide home to 
school transport where exceptional circumstances apply.  The Council will 
assess the individual child’s or young person’s needs on a case by case basis.  

Safeguarding responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults implications:

37. The Council will continue to ensure that, where it provides home to school 
transport for a child, it is safe.

Environmental sustainability implications:

38. The Council’s policy will encourage the use of more environmentally 
sustainable forms of transport, supporting young people to walk, cycle and use 
public transport such as local buses and trains.

Public Health implications:

39. Walking and cycling are healthy travel options and promoting independence 
provides mental health benefits.

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT:

40. Subject to decision making, the Home to School/College Travel and Transport 
Policy will be published on 10 February 2020 and communicated widely to 
children and young people and their families through the Surrey Local Offer, 
through schools and settings and directly with families.

41. Subject to decision making, the policy will be implemented for academic year 
2020/21 which begins in September 2020, with changes to discretionary 
provision made as set out in paragraph 15 above.  

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Contact Officer:
Mary Burguieres, Assistant Director for Systems and Transformation – Education, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture, mary.burguieres@surreycc.gov.uk

Consulted:

Cabinet
Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning
Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee

Page 13

mailto:mary.burguieres@surreycc.gov.uk


ELLC Staff
Families of children and young people with SEND
Families of children and young people without SEND
Young people, with SEND and without
Family Voice Surrey
Healthwatch Surrey
Phase Council Headteachers – special, primary, secondary 

Other school professionals 

Residents

Annexes:

Annex A:  Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy Consultation Survey 
Analysis

Annex B:  Equality Impact Assessment

Annex C:  Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy

Sources/background papers:

Cabinet Report 16th July 2019 – Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) Travel Assistance

Consultation Information & Papers – https://www.surreysays.co.uk/csf/home-
to-school-college-travel-and-transport-policy/

Consultation Introductory Video –
https://youtu.be/xLIjELp4NIM 

Relevant Home to School/College Travel & Transport Legislation:
Education Act 1996 section 508A (duty to promote sustainable modes of travel)
Education Act 1996 section 508B (travel arrangements for eligible children)
Education Act 1996 section 508C (travel arrangements for other children)
Education Act 1996 section 508E and Schedule 35C (school travel schemes)
Education Act 1996 section 508F (local authorities in England: provision of transport 
for adult learners)
Education Act 1996 section 508G (local authorities in England: transport policy 
statements for young adults subject to learning difficulty assessment)
Education Act 1996 section 509AA (transport etc for persons of sixth form age)
Regulation 5 and Part 2 of Schedule 2 to The School Information (England) 
Regulations 2002 (as amended)

Department for Education - Home to School Travel and Transport Statutory 
Guidance - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-
travel-and-transport-guidance 

Page 14

https://www.surreysays.co.uk/csf/home-to-school-college-travel-and-transport-policy/
https://www.surreysays.co.uk/csf/home-to-school-college-travel-and-transport-policy/
https://youtu.be/xLIjELp4NIM
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance


Department for Education - Transport to education and training for people aged 
16 and over -https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/post-16-transport-to-
education-and-training

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A

Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy 

Consultation survey analysis

December 2019

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Methodology

3. Public engagement events and scrutiny

4. Consultation respondents

5. Survey responses:  independence and flexible travel arrangements

6. Survey responses: policy proposals

7. Survey responses:   supplementary questions

8. Demographic details of respondents

Page 17



1. Introduction

Surrey County Council undertook a twelve week public consultation on 
proposals to change the Council’s Home to School/College Travel and 
Transport policies.  The online consultation was open from 23 September until 
15 December 2019 and face to face engagement events took place during that 
period.

The changes to policy proposed, if implemented, would realign the Council’s 
travel assistance offer with its statutory responsibilities where the Council is 
currently providing travel assistance that is discretionary.  The proposals are:

 To cease to provide free home to school transport to an infant or primary 
school for a child under the age of five, where a child is likely to be 
deemed as eligible once they turn five years of age.

 To cease home to school transport at the end of the term in which a child 
turns 8 (instead of the end of the academic year) where the child has 
been eligible due to living more than 2 miles but less than 3 miles from 
their nearest school.

 To cease to provide home to school/college travel assistance for young 
people ages 17 -18, unless exceptional circumstances apply. 

In addition to these proposals, the Council requested feedback from the 
public on how the use of flexible and more independent travel options 
could be encouraged and supported among children, young people and 
their families.

The Council engaged stakeholders through a series of nine public 
meetings during the consultation period.  The purpose of this was to 
ensure members of the public and interested parties had the opportunity 
to ask questions about the proposals in the consultation in order to 
become better informed and support the submission of their feedback 
through the online survey.  Young people were engaged directly through 
two focus groups facilitated by SEND Youth Advisers Surrey.

2. Methodology

Members of the public were able to access consultation information and 
submit a survey response online through the Council’s consultation 
pages on its website. On the consultation web page the following 
information was made available:

 Introductory video from the Cabinet Member for All-Age Learning
 A link to the online consultation survey for submitting responses 

to the consultation
 Electronic (downloadable) background paper describing the 

reason for the consultation and the proposals; and an easy read 
version

Page 18



 Electronic (downloadable) version of the consultation survey; and 
an easy read version

 Details of the public engagement events with link/instructions for 
how to reserve a place

In addition, hard copies of all these documents were available on request 
via the SCC Contact Centre, the dedicated consultation email account 
and at each public engagement event.

Notification of the consultation and how to give feedback was emailed to all 
home to school service user parents and carers where the Council held active 
email accounts.  The consultation was also promoted through the Council’s 
Schools Bulletin and school phase council meetings, at Family Voice Surrey’s 
Annual General Meeting and via social media accounts (Facebook, Twitter).

To facilitate attendance at the public engagement events, a combination 
of daytime and evening events were held. One evening and one daytime 
event was held in each quadrant of the county.

3. Public engagement events and scrutiny

Nine public engagement events were held during the period the 
consultation was open. Attendance across all the events totalled 87, with 
an average of 9 people in attendance at each event.  Participants 
included parents and carers, young people, school professionals and 
representatives of Healthwatch and Family Voice Surrey. Two focus 
groups were held with children and young people with SEND facilitated 
by SYAS. Meetings were held with primary, secondary and special 
school phase councils and a focus group with special school 
Headteachers.  The Council also facilitated discussion at the Family 
Voice AGM with parents and carers.

Feedback and discussion from the public events reflected the 
responses that were submitted via the consultation survey. 

Generally, those in attendance at the public events presented their 
circumstances as follows:

 Having children with complex/high support needs and attending 
special schools

 Being unable to access public transport/travel independently
 Living in locations with limited public transport links

At the events, there was agreement for proposals to support young 
people to be more independent, and acknowledgement that every 
family wants their child to be as independent as they are able.   
However, generally for those parents in attendance, their view was that 
their children do not have the potential to travel independently.

Concerns raised by those attending focused on children under the age 
of five who have been placed in specialist provision in order to access 

Page 19



early intervention and support.   Based on the fact they have been 
encouraged to explore early intervention and access education early, 
families may not be able to access these placements if support with 
travel is no longer an option. 

There were also concerns raised with Post 16 proposals.  These 
focused on the limitations the proposals could create of college options 
where a young person may not be able to access the course they want 
without transport and they therefore may be put in the position of 
undertaking a different course closer to home. 

On 13 December 2019, Surrey County Council’s Children’s, Families, 
Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee considered and 
discussed the consultation proposals.  A record of its discussions is 
available in the minutes of the meeting:  
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=791&MId
=7198&Ver=4

4. Consultation respondents

53% of all respondents indicated that they do not use public transport 
themselves at the weekends, evenings or on holidays. Public transport 
therefore may be an unfamiliar experience in these families.  

Note, not all respondents answered all questions throughout the consultation 
and some questions allowed respondents to submit more than one answer.

5. Survey responses: independence and flexible travel arrangements

A key priority for the Council throughout the consultation was to explore 
how different travel options could be better used to support children and 
young people to access their education, particularly through greater 
independence and preparation for adulthood. The first section of the 

Respondents Number %

A young person with special educational needs or disability 15 2.6%

A young person without special educational needs or disability 5 0.8%

A parent/carer 478 83.6%

An educational professional or governor 39 6.8%

A Surrey resident 27 4.7%

Other 8 1.4%

Not Answered 0 0%

Total 572

Page 20

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=791&MId=7198&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=791&MId=7198&Ver=4


survey focused on promotion of independence and flexile travel 
arrangements. 

Independent Travel Training

Question 2.1: Being independent is different for everyone. In terms of 
travel and preparing for adulthood, what is your/your child’s aspiration in 
terms of how you/ they will travel in the future?

Response
% of 

Responses
Be able to carry own bags and board and alight a vehicle on their own 9.33%
Be able to access transport from a collection point 6.51%
Be able to share school transport with other children or young people 14.90%
Being able to travel without a parent or carer in attendance 11.29%
Be able to undertake a single journey/route independently using public transport 6.51%
Be able to undertake a single journey/route independently walking/cycling 4.24%
Be able to plan and undertake any journey independently using public transport 8.55%
Be able to undertake any journey when they want using any form of transport 10.35%
Be able to undertake any journey by driving a car or motorcycle 5.49%
Be able to undertake any journey by cycling or walking 3.69%
Be able to travel on public transport with an accompanying adult (e.g. 
parent/carer) 7.69%
Not Applicable 2.75%
Other 2.90%
Not Answered 5.80%

There has been a broad range of aspirations expressed for children and 
young people to be able to travel independently, recognising that this will 
be different for individuals – from ability to undertake any journey 
independently to ability to carry own school bag.  

Question 2.2: What are the three biggest benefits for a young person 
who is successfully supported to travel independently on public 
transport, which allows them to access services and activities in the 
community?

Response
% of 

Responses
Increased self-esteem and confidence 23.23%
Increased opportunities to use public transport as an individual or family at weekends, 
evenings and holidays 8.50%
Improved access to friends and social or leisure activities 16.80%
Improved access to educational opportunities 14.19%
Improved access to employment or vocational opportunities 14.26%
Reduced reliance on family members or friends to assist with travel needs 16.13%
Other 6.89%

Page 21



Responses indicate that there are a range of benefits for the individual if 
a young person can be supported to travel independently.

Question 2.3: What are the three biggest benefits for the family of a 
young person who is successfully supported to travel independently on 
public transport?

Response
% of 

Responses
Family members have more time to do their own thing e.g. study or employment 19.24%
Increased numbers of travel options available for family travel 9.08%
Reduced dependency on family or friends financially 15.71%
Less need for adults to accompany young person to and from places 18.52%
Opportunities to access community services and activities that were previously not 
accessible 16.79%
Positive changes in family relationships and interactions 12.32%
Other 8.36%
Not Answered 0.00%

Responses indicate there are a range of indirect benefits for the family if 
a young person can be supported to travel independently.

Question 2.4: What are the three biggest barriers that stop children and 
young people using public transport independently to access services 
and activities in the community?

Response
% of 

Responses
Specific health needs cannot be supported on public transport 7.57%
Likelihood of bullying or being attacked 10.31%
Unable to access services and activities due to poor public transport links 9.43%
Limited awareness of danger or unable to keep safe 14.25%
Specific needs may place child/young person or member of the public at risk 7.92%
Wouldn’t be able to manage situations that aren’t planned or are out of routine 12.00%
Risk of getting lost or missing stop 10.40%
Unable to communicate with public transport staff or members of the public 8.32%
Has never used public transport before, even with an accompanying adult 2.35%
Unable to handle money 5.71%
Not being able to access opportunities to learn the necessary skills to use public transport 2.52%
Family concern for the young person’s safety and not allowing them the opportunity to try to 
travel on public transport independently 6.68%
Other 2.52%
Not Answered 0.00%

Responses indicate that the safety of young people and the ability to 
manage unplanned circumstances are key concerns.
 

Page 22



Question 2.5: What should the Council do to encourage more children 
and young persons to travel on public transport to school or college?

46% of respondents (397) provided feedback that the public transport 
network needed improvement. Improvement areas include:  more 
frequent services, improved access to services (in rural areas), better 
service in and around special schools, investment in training and support 
of public transport drivers to understand hidden disabilities, more 
subsidised (affordable) travel, provision of guides/escorts on public 
vehicles to support passengers.  For children with SEND and hidden 
disabilities, 7% of respondents felt that having a guide/escort on public 
buses would encourage more use among this group of individuals. 

12% of respondents felt that public transport was not a suitable travel 
option for children and young people with SEND.

Question 2.6: To what extent do you agree with the statement below: If a child 
or young person has the potential to become an independent traveller and 
would benefit from Independent Travel Training then they should be expected to 
undertake the training

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 13.64%
Agree 34.27%
Neither Agree or Disagree 25.17%
Disagree 12.41%
Strongly Disagree 9.44%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 5.07%
Not Answered 0.00%

Most respondents support the Council encouraging young people with 
the potential to travel independently to do so with the right support in 
place

Question 2.7:  Please provide any further thoughts, comments and 
suggestions in relation to Independent Travel Training.

279 respondents provided further comments and suggestions. The two 
main responses were:
 
1) There is a need for assessments to be undertaken with a clear 
assessment criteria which considers the individual needs, 
circumstances, potential journey (taking into account parent and school 
views) when deciding if travel training may have benefit and potential 
(20%) 

Page 23



2) Independent Travel Training should be encouraged among young 
people and their families, but with the caveat that it may not be suitable 
for everyone due to their individual needs/circumstances (12%)

A further 11% of respondents stated that their child with a SEND is not 
suitable to undertake independent travel training or to travel 
independently on a journey.

5% of respondents were concerned about the ability of the independent 
travel assessors to accurately identify if individual children were suitable 
to undertake the training.

Collection Points

Question 2.8: Do you think that the use of collection points for some 
children and young people would be beneficial?

Response
% of 

Responses
Yes 53.15%
No 23.60%
Unsure/Don’t Know 23.25%
Not Answered 0.00%

Most responses support the use of collection points for children and 
young people to access their travel arrangements.

Question 2.9 : If collection points were used for some children and 
young people, how far do you think is reasonable to ask a child or young 
person to travel to a collection point, accompanied by an adult as 
necessary?

Response
% of 

Responses
Up to one fifth of a mile 11.36%
Up to quarter of a mile 10.84%
Up to half a mile 12.94%
Up to one mile 5.07%
Up to two miles 2.10%
Over two miles 0.87%
Distance based on individual needs assessment 38.81%
Other 18.01%
Not Answered 0.00%

Question 2.10: When planning routes with collection points which three 
locations types would be most suitable for a collection point, subject to a 
location being identified as having suitable facilities for boarding, 
alighting and waiting?

Page 24



Response
% of 

Responses
Bus stops 24.55%
Supermarkets 8.5%
Local points of interest e.g. local shops 14.51%
Suitable road side locations 15.79%
Near health centres/GP surgeries 9.61%
Near libraries and/or other Council buildings 9.18%
Near to local schools and nurseries 4.98%
Other 12.88%
Not Answered 0.00%

Responses indicate that a range of locations could be used as a 
collection point as long as they were assessed for suitability. 

Question 2.11: What are the three biggest barriers to a child or young 
person accessing their school or college transport from a collection 
point?

Response
% of 

Responses
Specific health needs would make waiting at a collection point unsuitable 13.89%
Likelihood of bullying or being attacked 12.38%
Being exposed to environmental factors, such as rain or snow 10.28%
Limited awareness of danger/unable to keep safe, even when accompanied by an adult 16.85%
Specific needs may place child/young person or member of the public at risk 11.95%
Wouldn’t be unable to manage situations that aren’t planned/out of routine, such as late 
running of transport 18.41%
Being unable to support child/young person and their siblings at the same time 13.02%
Other 3.23%
Not Answered 0.00%

Question 2.12: Please provide any further thoughts, comments and 
suggestions in relation to the use of collection points

14% of the 187 respondents stated that the Council should introduce 
collection points based on an individual needs and circumstances 
assessment.  25% indicated either that their child would not be able to 
access a collection point.

7% of respondents expressed concern for a child’s/young person’s 
safety and the need for risks to be effectively managed.  

Travel Allowance

Question 2.13: To what extent do you agree with the statement:

Page 25



The Council should encourage more young people and families to use a 
travel allowance to make their own travel arrangements to school or 
college.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 11.01%
Agree 19.58%
Neither Agree or Disagree 29.20%
Disagree 14.69%
Strongly Disagree 17.66%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 7.87%
Not Answered 0.00%

There is mixed support for the Council promoting a travel allowance for 
families to make their own travel arrangements for their child. Free text 
responses indicate that lack of support is on the incorrect assumption 
that Councils can force families to do this without their consent.  

Question 2.14: Based on what you currently know about Surrey’s Travel 
Allowance, what do you think are the three biggest benefits for families 
using a Travel Allowance to make their own travel arrangements?

Response
% of 

Responses
Able to arrange travel around work commitments 13.10%
Able to arrange travel around family/caring responsibilities 11.55%
Flexibility to allow access to after school activities/services outside of 
school/college 18.58%
Greater control over travel arrangements 15.25%
Ability to provide additional funding for bespoke travel needs if necessary 6.07%
Less likelihood of changes in travel arrangements resulting from other 
passengers 9.62%
Shorter journey times for child or young person to school or college 14.88%
Other 10.95%
Not Answered 0.00%

Question 2.15: What would do you think are the top three barriers 
stopping a young person or their family using a Travel Allowance to 
make their travel arrangements for accessing school or college?

Response
% of 

Responses
Value of Travel Allowance is too low 16.98%
Family’s/young person’s work commitments 9.25%
Family commitments 9.37%
Distance to school or college is too far 20.13%
Public transport links are not suitable 24.91%

Page 26



Family/young person unable to identify and arrange suitable travel 
arrangement 14.03%
Other 5.35%
Not Answered 0.00%

Question 2.16: Please provide any further thoughts, comments and 
suggestions in relation to Travel Allowances.

129 respondents provided further thoughts and comments in relation to 
Travel Allowances.  8% of respondents felt that communication and 
promotion of the travel allowance offer needed improvement as families 
were unaware of the existing travel option. 

6. Survey responses: policy proposals

Question 3.1: Transport for children below the age of 5 - Change to 
discretionary travel assistance

Option 1: Surrey County Council will cease to provide free home to 
school transport to an infant or primary school for a child under the age 
of five, where a child is likely to be deemed as eligible once they turn five 
years of age. The Council currently prefers to implement this option.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 7.34%
Agree 11.54%
Neither Agree or Disagree 10.49%
Disagree 16.96%
Strongly Disagree 39.51%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 14.16%
Not Answered 0.00%

Option 2: Surrey County Council will continue to provide free home to 
school transport to an infant or primary school for a child under the age 
of five, where a child is likely to be deemed as eligible once they turn five 
years of age.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 40.03%
Agree 22.90%
Neither Agree or Disagree 10.66%
Disagree 6.99%
Strongly Disagree 6.12%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 13.29%
Not Answered 0.00%

Page 27



The majority of respondents indicate that the Council should continue to 
provide free home to school transport to an infant or primary school 
(Reception class) for a child under the age of five, where a child is likely 
to be deemed eligible once they turn five years of age.

Question: Provision for children of compulsory school age (5-16 
years old) - Change to discretionary travel assistance

Option 1: Surrey County Council will cease to provide home to school 
transport at the end of the term in which a child turns 8 where the child 
has been eligible due to living more than 2 miles but less than 3 miles 
from their nearest school. The Council currently prefers to implement this 
option.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 5.59%
Agree 10.66%
Neither Agree or Disagree 10.31%
Disagree 18.53%
Strongly Disagree 46.68%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 8.22%
Not Answered 0.00%

Option 2: Surrey County Council will continue to provide home to school 
travel assistance to the end of the academic year in which a child turns 8 
where the child has been eligible due to living more than 2 miles but less 
than 3 miles from their nearest available school.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 38.29%
Agree 21.85%
Neither Agree or Disagree 13.11%
Disagree 8.92%
Strongly Disagree 9.44%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 8.39%
Not Answered 0.00%

The majority of respondents indicate that the Council should continue to 
provide free home to school transport to the end of the academic year in 
which a child turns 8 where the child has been eligible due to living more 
than 2 miles but less than 3 miles for their nearest suitable school. 

Page 28



Question: Transport for young people aged 17 – 18 - Change to 
discretionary travel assistance

Option 1: In line with its existing policies for post 16 home to 
school/college transport, the Council will continue to provide home to 
school/college travel assistance for young people ages 17-18 who meet 
the eligibility criteria under our existing policies. Students will be 
expected to travel by the most cost-effective means for which they are 
able which may be public transport or by way of a seat on a contract 
vehicle (coach, minibus or taxi) at the start and end of the normal school 
day. The provision of a travel allowance where the parent, carer or 
young person uses a private vehicle will only be agreed where this is the 
least expensive option.

Response

% of 
Respons

es
Strongly Agree 26.40%
Agree 31.64%
Neither Agree or Disagree 14.34%
Disagree 7.34%
Strongly Disagree 10.31%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 9.97%
Not Answered 0.00%

Option 2: In line with statutory responsibilities, to cease to provide 
ordinarily home to school/college travel assistance for young people 
ages 17 -18. The Council would continue to promote the use of the 
Student Fare Card Scheme, 16-17 Saver and Disabled Person’s Bus 
Pass Scheme, which offer discounted travel on bus and rail services, to 
all post 16 year old students. The Council currently prefers to implement 
this option.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 6.99%
Agree 12.41%
Neither Agree or Disagree 13.46%
Disagree 17.66%
Strongly Disagree 36.71%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 12.76%
Not Answered 0.00%

The majority of respondents indicate that the Council should continue to 
provide home to school/college travel assistance for young people ages 

Page 29



17-18 who meet the eligibility criteria under the Council’s existing 
policies. 

Question 3.2: Are there any other comments you would like to make 
about the proposals or their likely impact?

218 respondents (38% of all survey responses) provided further 
comments in relation to the proposed policy changes. Of those 
responses 30% stated that the proposals would negatively impact on 
children accessing education early as part of early intervention 
programmes, as well as restricting young people’s ability to access and 
maintain their education post 16 – either the course they want or in some 
case any course.

7. Survey responses: supplementary questions

Question 4.1: Surrey County Council’s expenditure on home to school 
or college transport for children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities is £33.3 million this year. This is 
equivalent to 5% of the yield from Council Tax.

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the Council should take 
reasonable steps to limit spend on this service.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 7.87%
Agree 21.50%
Neither Agree or Disagree 12.59%
Disagree 23.78%
Strongly Disagree 30.77%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 3.50%
Not Answered 0.00%

Question 4.2: If you have any suggestions on how the Council could 
reduce its expenditure on home to school or college travel assistance, 
please provide these.

28% of the 261 responses to this question stated that key to reducing 
transport costs is to invest in and create more local provision/school 
places to avoid children and young people travelling longer than 
necessary distance to access their education. 

The Council has recently agreed a strategy to invest and develop more 
local provision which will enable children and young people to be 
educated nearer to home.

Question 4.3: Children and young people may be receiving Disability 
Living Allowance, a Personal Independence Payment or another form of 
travel benefit or concession. Ordinarily the purpose of this benefit is to 

Page 30



provide support with travel and access to services and activities. With 
this in mind, to what extent do you agree or disagree with the following:

Existing travel benefits or support should be one of the factors taken into 
consideration when assessing if a young person over the age of 16 
needs additional support with travel to their education placement.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 13.29%
Agree 30.94%
Neither Agree or Disagree 13.81%
Disagree 11.71%
Strongly Disagree 22.55%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 7.69%
Not Answered 0.00%

Question 4.4: Some young people between the ages of 16-19 will be 
able to access a Vulnerable Person’s Bursary from their college to 
support with the costs of continuing their education, including costs 
associated with travel. With this in mind, to what extent do you agree or 
disagree with the following:

It is reasonable to expect young people in receipt of a Vulnerable 
Person’s Bursary to use this funding to contribute towards the costs of 
any travel assistance provided by the Council.

Response
% of 

Responses
Strongly Agree 9.09%
Agree 35.31%
Neither Agree or Disagree 15.21%
Disagree 12.76%
Strongly Disagree 17.48%
Don’t Know/No Opinion 10.14%
Not Answered 0.00%

8. Demographic details of respondents

Respondents to the consultation were asked to answer the following 
questions about their demographic background.

Questions: Demographics (Age) - Which of these age groups do you 
belong to?

Age Range
No. of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

0-15 33 5.77%

Page 31



16-20 12 2.10%

20-24 5 0.87%

25-29 9 1.57%

30-34 33 5.77%

35-39 72 12.59%

40-44 115 20.10%

45-49 136 23.78%

50-54 87 15.21%

55-59 38 6.64%

60-64 10 1.75%

65-69 1 0.17%

70-74 3 0.52%

65-79 3 0.52%

80-84 0 0.00%

85+ 0 0.00%
Not 
Answered 15 2.62%

Question: Demographics (Health) - Are your day-to-day activities 
limited because of a health problem or disability which lasted, or is 
expected to last, at least 12 months?

Response
No of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

Yes, Limited a lot 64 11.19%

Yes, Limited a little 53 9.27%

No 391 68.36%

Prefer not to say 46 8.04%

Not Answered 18 3.15%

Question: Demographics (Gender) - What is your sex?

Response
No of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

Female 423 73.95%

Male 98 7.13%

Page 32



Prefer not to say 36 6.29%

Not Answered 15 2.62%

Question: Demographics (Gender) - How do you self-identify your 
gender?

Response
No of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

Female 421 73.60%

Male 99 17.31%
Prefer not to 
say 40 6.99%

Not Answered 12 2.10%

Question: Demographics (Gender) - Is your gender identify the same 
as the sex you were assigned at birth?

Response
No of 

Responses
% of 

Responses

No 3 0.52%

Yes 516 90.21%

Prefer not to say 39 6.82%

Not Answered 14 2.45%

Question: Demographics (Sexuality) - How do you self-identify your 
sexual orientation?

Response
No of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

Bi 6 1.05%

Gay Man 1 0.17%

Gay Woman/Lesbian 0 0.00%

Heterosexual/Straight 454 79.37%

Prefer not to say 92 16.08%

Not Answered 19 3.32%

Question: Demographics (Pregnant or on Maternity leave) - Are you 
currently pregnant or on maternity leave?

Response
No of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

No 509 88.99%

Page 33



Yes 7 1.22%

Prefer not to say 44 7.69%

Not Answered 12 2.10%

Question: Demographics (Ethnicity) - Which of these groups do you 
self-identify with?

Response
No of 

Responses
% of 

Responses

African 3 0.52%

Arab 0 0.00%

Bangladeshi 1 0.17%

Caribbean 0 0.00%

Chinese 0 0.00%

Indian 3 0.52%

Other Asian Background 6 1.05%

Other Black British, African or Caribbean 1 0.17%

Other mixed or multiple ethnic background 5 0.87%

Pakistani 2 0.35%

White and Asian 7 1.22%

White and Black African 2 0.35%

White and Black Caribbean 0 0.00%

White any other background 32 5.59%
White - British, English, Northern Irish, 
Scotland, or Welsh 453 79.20%

White Gypsy or Irish Traveller 1 0.17%

White Irish 6 1.05%

Prefer not to say 33 5.77%

Not Answered 17 2.97%

Question: Demographics (Marital Status) - What is your legal marital 
or same-sex partnership status?

Response
No of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

In a registered same-sex civil partnership 2 0.35%

Page 34



Married 370 64.69%
Formerly in a same-sex civil partnership which is now 
legally dissolved 1 17.00%

Divorced 45 7.87%

Surviving partner from a same-sex civil partnership 0 0.00%

Widowed 2 35.00%
Never married or never registered a same-sex civil 
partnership 59 10.31%

Prefer not to say 75 13.11%

Not Answered 18 3.15%

Question: Demographics (Caring) - Do you look after, or give any help 
or support to family members, friends, neighbours or others because of 
either: long-term physical or mental ill-health/disability and/or problems 
related to old age?

Response
No of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

No 232 40.56%

Yes, 1-19 hours a week 89 15.56%

Yes, 20-49 hours a week 53 9.27%

Yes, 50 or more hours a week 169 29.55%

Not Answered 29 5.07%

Question: Demographics (Religion) - What is your religion?

Response
No of 
Responses

% of 
Responses

No Religion 239 41.78%
Christian (including Church of England, Catholic, 
Protestant and all other Christian denominations) 276 48.25%

Buddhist 2 0.35%

Hindu 2 0.35%

Jewish 0 0.00%

Muslim 11 1.92%

Sikh 2 0.35%

Not Answered 40 6.99%

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex B

What policy, function or 
service change are you 
assessing?

The policy change being assessed is Surrey County 
Council’s Home to School/College Travel and Transport 
Policy.  

The consultation and review of the policy aimed to:
 
 ensure it continues to deliver its statutory 

responsibilities; 
 ensure it is able to improve outcomes for children 

and young people;
 consider changes to policy in relation to three 

specific areas of current discretionary provision. 

There are 3 key changes proposed to the policy which 
have been the focus on the consultation, these are:

 To cease to provide free home to school transport to 
an infant or primary school for a child under the age 
of five, where a child is likely to be deemed as 
eligible once they turn five years of age.

 To cease home to school transport at the end of the 
term in which a child turns 8 (instead of the end of 
the academic year) where the child has been eligible 
due to living more than 2 miles but less than 3 miles 
from their nearest school.

 To cease to provide home to school/college travel 
assistance for young people ages 17 -18, unless 
exceptional circumstances apply. 

Why does this EIA need to be 
completed?

Proposals could have an impact on individuals with 
protect characteristics. The EIA is necessary to 
understand any potential impact and necessary 
mitigation that is required.

The protected characteristics identified are:

 Age
 Disability

EIA Title Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy 
Changes

Did you use the EIA 
Screening Tool? 
(Please tick or specify)

Yes
(Please attach upon 

submission)
X No

1.  Explaining the matter being assessed

Page 37



Page 2 of 17

Who is affected by the 
proposals outlined above?

Stakeholders who may be affected include:
 Children and young people of non-statutory 

school age
 Parents/carers
 Schools and colleges
 Transport providers

The main stakeholders who will be impacted by the 
proposed changes to the Home to School/College 
Travel and Transport Policy are those children and 
young people of non-compulsory school age who are 
currently accessing the service - post 16 pupils and 
children under the age of 5.

How does your service 
proposal support the 
outcomes in the Community 
Vision for Surrey 2030?

The Community Vision for Surrey 2030 outcomes that 
are linked to the service and proposals are:

 Children and young people are safe and feel safe 
and confident 

 Everyone benefits from education, skills and 
employment opportunities that help them succeed 
in life 

 Everyone lives healthy, active and fulfilling lives, 
and makes good choices about their wellbeing 

 Journeys across the county are easier, more 
predictable and safer 

County Wide X Runnymede  
Elmbridge Spelthorne
Epsom and Ewell Surrey Heath
Guildford Tandridge
Mole Valley Waverley
Reigate and Banstead Woking

Not Applicable

Are there any specific 
geographies in Surrey where 
this will make an impact?
(Please tick or specify)

County Divisions (please specify if appropriate): 

Briefly list what evidence 
you have gathered on the 
impact of your proposals? 

A range of local evidence and benchmarking with other 
areas has been undertaken to understand the impact of 
the proposals and establish best practice used by other 
local authorities. Evidence gathered includes:

 Consultation survey responses
 Public engagement events
 SEND Youth Advisers Surrey focus groups

Page 38

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/185211/Community-Vision-Org-Strategy.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/185211/Community-Vision-Org-Strategy.pdf


Page 3 of 17

 Primary, Secondary, and Special School Phase 
Council meetings

 Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture 
Select Committee

 DfE Home to School Transport Guidance
 DfE Home to College Transport Guidance
 Service review and performance monitoring
 Local authority benchmarking (statistical 

neighbours)
 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

reports related to home to school transport

Extensive benchmarking with other local authorities was 
carried out to review other local authorities’ home to 
school transport policies and provision. This established 
that the majority of local authorities had either never 
provided for, or have withdrawn, the provision of free 
home to school transport for children and young people 
below statutory school age. The majority of local 
authorities apply an annual contributory charge to the 
parents of children and young people in receipt of post-
16 home to school transport provision, to support the 
costs to the local authority for the provision of this 
transport.  Some local authorities have reduced their 
discretionary offer and no longer provide travel 
assistance once a young person is in Year 12 (Post 16 
education).

Page 39



Page 4 of 17

There are 10 protected characteristics to consider in your proposal. These are:

1. Age including younger and older people
2. Disability
3. Gender reassignment
4. Pregnancy and maternity
5. Race including ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality
6. Religion or belief including lack of belief
7. Sex
8. Sexual orientation
9. Marriage/civil partnerships
10.Carers protected by association

Though not included in the Equality Act 2010, Surrey County Council recognises that socio-economic disadvantage is a significant 
contributor to inequality across the County and therefore regards this as an additional factor. 

Therefore, if relevant, you will need to include information on this. Please refer to the EIA guidance if you are unclear as to what this is.

2.  Service Users / Residents

P
age 40



Page 5 of 17

AGE

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic?

Reception:  In academic year 2019/20, there were 156 four year olds who received free home to school transport on the basis that they 
would be eligible for this provision when they turned five.   109 have an EHCP.  If all of these children turned five at the end of the 
Summer term, the Council would be spending approximately £1.1million on this discretionary provision (full academic year estimate).

Distance criteria:  At the start of academic year 2019/20, there were 66 seven year olds who lived between 2 and 3 miles from their 
nearest suitable school for whom the Council provided free home to school transport.  18 of these children had an EHCP.

Post 16:  In academic year 2019/20 there are 465 16 – 19 year old young people who receive home to college travel assistance.  452 
have an EHCP.  The Council is spending approximately £3.7million on this discretionary provision.  

Impacts
(Please tick or 
specify)

Positive Negative Both X

Impacts identified Supporting evidence
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise negative 
impacts?

When will this be 
implemented by? Owner

What impacts have you 
identified?

What are you basing this 
on?

Actions to mitigate or 
enhance impacts Due date Who is responsible 

for this?

For children who are 4 years old 
beginning Reception, their 
families may not start them in 
Reception at the beginning of 
the academic year.  This could 
1) delay children accessing 
education;
2) be destabilising for Reception 
classes where children are 

Respondent survey and 
engagement event 
feedback.

Engage and communicate 
with families before the end 
of the Spring term to inform 
them of the changes to policy 
and the likely impact. 

Work with schools and 
families to identify alternative 

For September 
2020 Claire Potier

P
age 41



Page 6 of 17

joining throughout the year.  This 
could be particularly 
destabilising in specialist 
Reception classes with children 
with SEND. (Negative)

travel options and support to 
enable access to placement.  

The Council will consider 
applications for travel 
assistance for children in 
Reception on a case by case 
basis with discretionary 
award of assistance given 
where it is identified as 
necessary based on their 
specific needs/circumstances

For post 16 young people, 
families have already 
applied/agreed College places 
for 2020/21 based on the 
existing policy and may be 
unaware of the impact of 
proposed changes to policy. 
This may result in post 16 places 
not being taken up. (Negative)

Respondent survey and 
engagement event 
feedback; research from 
other local authorities who 
have made policy changes 
for the forthcoming 
academic year after 
families have made 
decisions about their 
young person’s College 
placement.

Engage and communicate 
with families before the end 
of the Spring term to inform 
them of the changes to policy 
and likely impact. 

Work with schools and 
families to identify alternative 
travel options and support to 
enable access to placement.  

Where appropriate, work with 
schools and families during 
the summer term to develop 
and enable independent 
travel opportunities.

Promote independent travel 
training and discounted 
public transport options for 
post 16 students.

Post 16 policy 
changes – for  
September 2020

Independent travel 
training – 10 
February 2020

Claire Potier
Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 42



Page 7 of 17

The Council will consider 
applications for travel 
assistance for post 16 young 
people on a case by case 
basis with discretionary 
award of assistance where it 
is identified as necessary in 
order to access their 
placement based on their 
specific 
needs/circumstances.

May restrict very young children 
(pre-school) to access early 
intervention education 
placements where transport is 
the barrier to early years 
provision. (Negative)

Feedback from survey 
responses and 
engagement events

In line with its current policy, 
the Council will continue to 
consider applications on a 
case by case basis to 
establish if travel assistance 
is necessary based on the 
assessment of needs and 
circumstances of the child 
and family.

Continuation of 
current policy Claire Potier

May reduce choice of 
educational establishments 
available to Post 16 students 
(Negative)

Feedback from survey 
responses and 
engagement events

The Council will continue as 
part of its placement strategy 
to develop and extend the 
local post 16 offer for both 
pupils with and without SEND 
to provide sufficient provision.  

Continuation of 
current policy Eamonn Gilbert

May incentivise more children 
under 5 to attend local provision 
enables the development of 
stronger local support networks 

Feedback from survey 
responses and 
engagement events

The Council will continue as 
part of its placement strategy 
to develop and extend local 
early years provision for 
children with and without 

Continuation of 
current policy Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 43



Page 8 of 17

and reduces the need to travel 
long distances. (Positive)

SEND to provide sufficient 
provision.

May incentivise more Post 16 
students to study locally which 
enables the development of 
stronger local support networks 
and reduces the need to travel 
long distances and provides for 
an easier transition into 
adulthood.  (Positive)

Feedback from survey 
responses and 
engagement events

The Council will continue as 
part of its placement strategy 
to develop and extend the 
local post 16 offer for both 
pupils with and without SEND 
to provide sufficient provision.  

Continuation of 
current policy Eamonn Gilbert

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents? 
Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of

The Council is already undertaking extensive work to create and identify provision for children below the age of 5 at local provisions with 
investment in improving support and resources at the locations. The intended outcome is that more children with SEND will be able to 
access their education at their local school reducing the need to travel and need for the Council to provide support with travel 
arrangements.

Similar work is also underway with Post 16 establishments to improve the study programmes available locally, ensuring improved choice 
of study locally rather than courses that require considerable travel in order to access them.
Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why
All negative impacts can be mitigated

P
age 44



Page 9 of 17

DISABILITY

What information (data) do you have on affected service users/residents with this characteristic?

As at 6 January 2020, there were 9,820 children and young people in Surrey with an Education, Health and Care plan (EHCP).  
Approximately 3,600 were in receipt of some form of travel assistance.  

Impacts
(Please tick or 
specify)

Positive Negative Both X

Impacts identified Supporting evidence
How will you maximise 
positive/minimise negative 
impacts?

When will this be 
implemented by? Owner

What impacts have you 
identified?

What are you basing this 
on?

Actions to mitigate or 
enhance impacts Due date Who is responsible 

for this?

Concerns for the safety of 
children and young people with 
SEND using public transport and 
their ability to manage 
unplanned circumstances.  
(Negative)

Feedback from survey 
responses and 
engagement events

The Council will continue to 
develop the support and 
expertise available to 
children, young people and 
families to enable safer travel 
on public transport.

Independent Travel Training 
will be delivered as bespoke 
training for the individual to 
ensure that they learn to 
travel independently and 

10 February 2020 Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 45



Page 10 of 17

minimise any potential impact 
relating to their SEND. 

Young people will be given 
the opportunity to learn the 
necessary skills to travel 
independently at their own 
pace and will reflect the 
specific route and 
environment they will be 
expected to use. 

Schools and families and the 
young person will have the 
opportunity to feedback 
during the training process to 
establish when the young 
person is suitable to begin 
travelling independently.

As part of the training, young 
people will be assessed as to 
whether they can 
demonstrate and understand 
how to deal with situations 
where unplanned situations 
present themselves and how 
to maintain their safety. 

Concerns for the safety of 
children and young people with 
SEND using collection points 
and their ability to manage 

Feedback from survey 
responses and 
engagement events

Each child and young person 
will be assessed on a case 
by case basis 
(needs/circumstances) to 
establish if they could access 

10 February 2020 Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 46



Page 11 of 17

unplanned circumstances.  
(Negative)

a collection point with support 
from an adult where 
necessary. 

Where a child/young person 
is assessed as being able to 
access a collection point, 
then a further assessment 
will be undertaken to 
establish the distance the 
child/young person could be 
expected to walk to the 
collection point. Distances 
will be agreed based on the 
individual needs and 
circumstances of the child 
young person on a case by 
case basis.

Each collection point will be 
individually assessed for 
suitability of use. Only 
locations assessed and 
identified as appropriate for 
use will be used on the 
service. Locations will then 
be allocated to individual 
children/young people based 
on their home address and 
their needs to ensure all 
locations are suitable to 
support individual 
needs/circumstances.

P
age 47



Page 12 of 17

Children and young people 
will continue to be 
accompanied to and from the 
collection point by an adult 
(where necessary) supporting 
the individual with any 
immediate needs/concerns. 
Transport providers will not 
allow a young person to be 
left at a collection point 
unless agreed in advance 
and an acceptable 
arrangement with the family.

Young people having greater 
access to education and 
employment opportunities where 
Independent Travel Training has 
been successfully 
delivered.(positive)

Benchmarking with other 
Local Authorities

By evidencing that a young 
person has the ability to 
travel independently it will 
enable those supporting the 
family to identify opportunities 
that previously would not be 
considered due to being 
inaccessible due to their 
inability to use public 
transport.

Study programmes and 
learning opportunities with a 
requirement to be able to 
undertake journeys 
independently become 
available creating 
opportunities to begin 
employment pathways.

10 February 2020 Eamonn Gilbert

P
age 48



Page 13 of 17

The Council will work closely 
with families through the 
EHCP and Annual Review 
process to identify 
opportunities to develop 
independent travel skills as 
early in their life as 
appropriate that will reduce 
future dependency on family 
members and increase the 
access to opportunities for all 
family members and the 
family’s overall quality of life.

What other changes is the council planning/already in place that may affect the same groups of residents? 
Are there any dependencies decisions makers need to be aware of

The Council continues to work with transport providers to ensure that drivers and the service can appropriately support service users 
with disabilities and enable greater access to services and the wider community.

Any negative impacts that cannot be mitigated? Please identify impact and explain why
All negative impacts can be mitigated

P
age 49



CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE
What changes have you made as a result of 

this EIA? Why have these changes been made?

Original proposal detailed that no 
travel/transport will be provided by the 

Council until after the child’s 5th Birthday. 
This will be changed in light of the 

responses received and will now allow 
parents/carers to present specific 

circumstances/needs.  The Council will 
review these on a case by case basis 

making a discretionary award for assistance 
where necessary

The Council acknowledges that in some cases 
the importance of accessing early intervention 

(due to a child’s SEND needs) through an 
education placement may be identified as a 

high priority and without transport a placement 
may not be accessible. For high need/specialist 

placements the Council will consider support 
with travel on a case by case basis based on 

their specific needs and circumstances.

Original proposal detailed that no 
travel/transport will be provided by the 

Council to a young person who is 16 (in 
year 12) or older in order for them to access 

their education placement. This will be 
changed in light of the responses received 

and will now allow parents/carers to present 
specific circumstances/needs.  The Council 
will review these on a case by case basis 

making a discretionary award for assistance 
where necessary

The Council acknowledges that in some cases 
the young people may not be able to access 
their education placement due to the limited 
travel options available to them due to their 
SEND. Where an education placement is 

inaccessible due to their SEND that Council will 
consider support with travel on a case by case 

basis based on their specific needs and 
circumstances.

 
Based your assessment, please indicate which course of action you are recommending to 
decision makers. You should explain your recommendation in the in the blank box below.

Outcome Number Description Tick

Outcome One
No major change to the policy/service/function required. 
This EIA has not identified any potential for discrimination or 
negative impact, and all opportunities to promote equality 
have been undertaken

Outcome Two
Adjust the policy/service/function to remove barriers 
identified by the EIA or better advance equality.  Are you 
satisfied that the proposed adjustments will remove the 
barriers you identified?

3.  Amendments to the proposals

5.  Recommendation

Page 50



Page 15 of 17

Outcome Three

Continue the policy/service/function despite potential for 
negative impact or missed opportunities to advance equality 
identified.  You will need to make sure the EIA clearly sets out 
the justifications for continuing with it.  You need to consider 
whether there are:

 Sufficient plans to stop or minimise the negative impact
 Mitigating actions for any remaining negative impacts 

plans to monitor the actual impact. 

X

Outcome Four

Stop and rethink the policy when the EIA shows actual or 
potential unlawful discrimination
(For guidance on what is unlawful discrimination, refer to the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission’s guidance and Codes of Practice on the Equality Act 
concerning employment, goods and services and equal pay, available here).

Please use the box on 
the right to explain the 
rationale for your 
recommendation

The proposals ensure that Surrey County Council delivers it statutory 
obligations in relation to Home to School/College Travel and 
Transport. This will impact on the identified stakeholders in both 
negative and positive ways, where a negative impact is experienced 
that restricts an individual’s attendance at School/College then the 
Council retains its right to review each case individually to consider a 
discretionary award for support with travel arrangements.

Page 51

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice


Page 16 of 17

Version Number Purpose/Change Author Date
V1.0 1st draft Stephen Good 6th December 2019
V2.0 2nd draft Mary Burguieres 6 January 2020
V3.0 3rd draft Stephen Good 10 January 2020

The above provides historical data about each update made to the Equality Impact Assessment.
Please do include the name of the author, date and notes about changes made – so that you 
are able to refer back to what changes have been made throughout this iterative process. 
For further information, please see the EIA Guidance document on version control.

Name Date approved
Head of Service, Liz Mills 15.01.20

Executive Director, Dave Hill 15.01.20

Cabinet Member, Julie Iles 21.01.20
Approved by*

Directorate Equality Group 15.01.20

EIA Author Mary Burguieres and Stephen Good

*Secure approval from the appropriate level of management based on nature of issue and scale 
of change being assessed.

Name Job Title Organisation Team Role

Mary Burguieres
Assistant Director, 
Systems and 
Transformation

Surrey County 
Council Programme sponsor

Stephen Good Programme 
Manager

Independent 
consultant Programme management

Deborah Chantler Legal Surrey County 
Council Legal adviser

If you would like this information in large print, Braille, on CD or in another language please 
contact us on:

Tel: 03456 009 009

6b. Approval

6a. Version Control

6c. EIA Team

Page 52



Page 17 of 17

Textphone (via Text Relay): 18001 03456 009 009
SMS: 07860 053 465
Email: contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk

Page 53

mailto:contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Annex C

Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy

Contents

1. Introduction
2. Policy statement
3. Eligibility

- All pupils of statutory school age (5-16)
- Statutory walking distance
- Unsafe walking routes
- Extended rights
- Special educational needs, disability and mobility problems

4. Application process
- How to apply
- Assessing travel assistance entitlement for compulsory school aged children

Qualifying schools
Nearest suitable school
How distance is measured
Route safety assessment
Extended rights
Special educational needs, disability and mobility problems

- Extenuating Circumstances
- Appeals 

5. Children below the age of 5
- Children attending Reception classes
- Pre-school children with SEND

6. Young people aged 16 – 19
7. Young people aged 19 – 25
8. Children attending schools on grounds of religion or belief
9. Travel assistance options

- Forms of travel assistance
- Travel allowance

10. Independent travel
- Independent travel training
- Collection points

11. Other arrangements when a child is not eligible
- Discounted fare schemes
- Concessionary seats

12. Implementing the policy
- Provision of contracted transport vehicles
- Provision of transport for part-time hours
- Provision of transport for after school and non-educational activities 
- Home address
- Pick up and drop off timing
- Journey length
- Dual and link placements, inclusion and pupil referral units
- Children attending residential placements

Page 55



- Passenger assistants
- Shared travel
- Behaviour of children on transport
- Parental choice
- Applying for transport

Introduction

This document sets out Surrey County Council’s Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy 
and describes how the Council fulfils its duties and exercises its discretionary powers as required by 
the Education Act 1996 and subsequent legislation and guidance.  

The policy explains the criteria for eligibility for travel assistance for pupils to their school or college 
for children of statutory school age (5-16 years old) and for young people aged 16 to 19 and 19 to 
25.   It describes how parents and carers can apply for travel assistance and how decisions are made.  
It sets out how parents and carers may appeal against decisions that they believe do not comply 
with this policy.  

Policy statement

Surrey County Council is committed to ensuring that all pupils have a great start to life, are safe and 
healthy and have access to high quality education so that they are able to achieve their full potential.  
The Children and Families Act 2014 commits partners to work together to develop services which 
strengthen the abilities and resilience of children and their families to be independent.  

The Council is also committed to meeting the educational needs of as many children and young 
people as possible within local schools.  In many cases, this will mean that pupils can walk or cycle to 
school with their parents or carers.  This policy sets out how we will help the small number of pupils 
who find it difficult to travel to school or college without some assistance.  

As a Council we want to make sure we continue to deliver our statutory responsibilities for home to 
school transport to meet the travel needs of children and young people, enabling them to access 
their place of education. The Council acknowledges that without this service some of the County’s 
children and young people would be unable to access their school or college, especially those who 
have significant additional needs, are isolated within the community, or deemed extremely 
vulnerable.  

Engagement with young people with special educational needs in Surrey confirmed that young 
people value independence highly, and that they want their parents, schools and the services that 
support them to help them prepare for adulthood, including continued access to education, 
employment opportunities and access to essential services and activities in the community.  The 
ability to travel independently is important to them now to attend school, participate in community 
life and socialise with friends; it is also fundamental to their future ambitions.  

We want to support parents and carers to fulfil their responsibility to ensure their school-aged 
children attend school regularly and to make any necessary arrangements to ensure that they attend 
school. Those children and young people not in receipt of travel assistance from the Council can use 
a wide range of forms of travel in Surrey, accompanied as necessary, including bus, train, 
concessionary fares, walking and cycling.  We also want to support schools to promote safe routes to 
school and safe travel skills through their regular curriculum.  

Page 56



3. Eligibility

3.1 All pupils

Parents and carers have a legal duty to ensure that their statutory school-aged children (age 5-16) 
attend school regularly and to make any necessary arrangements to ensure that they attend school.

A child becomes of compulsory school age at the start of term after their fifth birthday up until the 
last day of the academic year in which they are in year 11. This applies to both children with and 
without an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP).

There are four core categories of eligible children set out in law:  

 statutory walking distances
 unsafe walking routes
 extended rights 
 special educational needs, disability and mobility problems.  

Ordinarily and in accordance with the Council’s statutory duty, children under the age of 5 will not 
be entitled to travel assistance between their home and school. Where circumstances exist where 
the Council determines that travel assistance is necessary it may apply its discretionary powers on a 
case by case basis.  For further details refer to section 5.

For pupils in year 12 and above (post 16 year olds), there is no statutory requirement on the Council 
to provide free transport to their school or college.   It is expected that young people in Post 16 
education will use existing travel schemes to support access to their education placement. More 
information about existing schemes and discretionary support is detailed in section 6 for those aged 
16 – 19, and section 7 for 19 – 25 young persons with an EHCP.

3.2 Statutory walking distances

Surrey County Council, in accordance with its statutory duty, will provide free home to school 
transport for children of compulsory school age to the nearest suitable school from their home 
address who meet the 'qualifying distance' criteria which are: 

 2 miles or more for children below the age of eight, measured by the shortest walking 
distance between the home and the school

 3 miles or more for children aged eight and above, measured by the shortest walking 
distance between the home and the school

Children who live between 2 and 3 miles from their school will cease to be entitled to transport from 
the start of the term following their eighth birthday.  This will be implemented for September 2021 
(academic year 2021/22).  

If the child/family qualify for free school meals or they are in receipt of maximum Working Tax Credit 
then please refer to section 3.4 for more details regarding Extended Rights eligibility.

For children with special needs or disability, if it is deemed unreasonable to expect them to walk to 
school (accompanied by an adult as necessary), then the distance criteria does not apply and they 
are entitled to free school travel regardless of the distance they live from school.  See section 3.5 for 
more details. 

Page 57



3.3 Unsafe walking routes

Where a child is not deemed eligible for transport to their nearest qualifying school because it is 
under the relevant distance threshold and the parent/carer believes the child is unable to walk the 
assessed route safely (accompanied by an adult as necessary) due to the nature of the route, they 
should write to Surrey’s Home to School Transport team outlining the aspect of the route they 
believe to be unsafe. 

Safe Walking routes are then inspected by the Council’s Safer Travel Team using the ‘Road Safety GB 
Guidelines on Assessment of Walked Routes to School’. 

Where a route previously considered to be unavailable and becomes available (for example through 
the provision of a new footpath), transport will no longer be provided to any new applicants for 
transport assistance. Those applicants who have been entitled to transport due to an unavailable 
route that has become available will be provided with transport until the end of the academic year in 
which the route is re-assessed or given one full terms notice, whichever is longest, before transport 
will be withdrawn. 

3.4 Extended rights

Statutory entitlement is extended to children from low income groups. Children from low income 
groups are defined as those who are entitled to free school meals, or those families who are in 
receipt of the maximum level of Working Tax Credit (WTC). 

Children above the age of 8, but under the age of 11, from low income families will be entitled to 
travel assistance to their nearest suitable school if the shortest walking distance between their home 
and the school is more than two miles. 

Children aged 11 and over (years 7 – 11) from low income families will be entitled to travel 
assistance if  they attend one of their three nearest suitable  schools where they live between two 
miles (measured by the shortest walking distance) and 6 miles (measured by the shortest road 
route) from their school. 

When a child cannot be offered a place at the nearest school to the home address, the Council will, 
subject to the criteria set within this policy and the qualifying distance being met, provide transport 
to the next nearest school with space to admit. For transport to be provided in this particular 
instance the parent must provide evidence that they have applied for and been refused a place at 
the school which is the nearest school for their home address and any other schools closer than the 
school offering admission. 

Children aged 11 and over (years 7 - 11) from low income families who are attending their nearest 
designated faith school preferred on the grounds of religion or belief will also be entitled to travel 
assistance if their school is more than 2 miles (measured by the shortest walking distance) but not 
more than 15 miles (measured by the shortest road route) from their home. 

When considering whether a faith school is preferred on the grounds of religion or belief, Surrey 
County Council will take into account the nature of other schools that may have been named as 
higher preferences on the application form. For an application for travel assistance to be agreed 
under this section, the expectation will be that the school that is preferred on the grounds of religion 
or belief will be named above any non-faith schools that have been named on the application form.

Page 58



Parents must provide supporting evidence regarding their genuine adherence to their religion or 
belief and this will normally be confirmed by asking their minister of religion to sign the application 
form.

3.5 Special educational needs, disability and mobility problems

In addition to the eligibility set out in sections 3.2 and 3.4, for children of compulsory school age 
with special education needs, a disability or mobility problem, whether in mainstream or special 
provision, an entitlement to home to school transport exists where the following criteria is satisfied:

A child with an EHCP attends their nearest suitable school* and qualifies for home to school 
transport under the statutory walking distances (section 3.2) outlined previously within this 
policy. 

In addition to the above, where a child’s SEN or mobility difficulties mean he or she cannot 
reasonably be expected to walk to school even when accompanied by a parent, transport can be 
provided even if the distance criteria are not met.

*For those children with an EHCP, the nearest suitable school will be the school that can meet the 
child’s needs and not the school that best meets the child’s needs. Where a parent/ carer exercises 
parental preference in choosing a school further away than the nearest suitable school, the Council 
can name that school but state that this is not the nearest suitable school.  Under this circumstance, 
the child is not eligible for transport and the parent takes on all financial and practical responsibility 
of getting their child to and from school. 

Where a child held an EHCP up to the age of 16, and progresses on to attend a Further Education 
College or sixth form, they will, upon application, be assessed against the Post 16 policy (see section 
6 and 7 for further details). 

4. Application Process

4.1 How to Apply

Once a parent/carer has received an offer of a school place and believes their child is eligible for 
assistance with travel to school they can apply by submitting an online application form on Surrey 
County Council’s website at www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport.  

If a child changes school or moves home address, either for the start of the academic year or during 
the year, a new application form must be submitted for a new eligibility assessment to be 
undertaken.

4.2 Assessing travel assistance entitlement for compulsory school age children

In all cases, a child/young person must be attending the nearest suitable school. This is defined as a 
school that has spaces available that provides education appropriate to the age, gender, ability and 
aptitude of the child, and appropriate to the child’s EHCP where one exists. 

In the case of entry to the junior stage of education, a qualifying school will either be a junior school 
or an all through primary school with a separate published admissions number at 7+. 

Types of suitable schools considered under this policy are:

Page 59

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport


 Community, foundation, trust, voluntary aided and voluntary controlled schools
 Academies or alternative provision academies
 Free schools
 Community or foundation special schools
 Non-maintained special schools
 Pupil referral units
 Maintained nursery schools
 City technology colleges and city colleges for the technology of the arts, university 

technical colleges

For mainstream applications processed during the normal school admissions round, a school will be 
determined as having a vacancy if a place would have been offered according to the allocations 
made on the national offer day, assuming the parent either made or could reasonably have made an 
application. For applications made after the normal admissions round and those made during the 
school year, a school will be determined as having a vacancy if, at the point of processing the child’s 
school application, a place could have been allocated to the child. 

When determining which qualifying school is the nearest to the home address for travel assistance, 
distances will be measured by the shortest road route. This assessment will exclude walking routes, 
such as footpaths, bridleways and pathways, and will not take into account whether the road route 
is safe to walk along.

In some circumstances, children may not be attending their nearest suitable school from their home 
address when the road route is measured. If the school attended is the nearest school measured as 
the crow flies as defined in the admissions arrangements for the school then a discretionary 
extension will be applied and travel assistance provided, subject to the distance thresholds 
appropriate to the age of the child being met. 

If, due to a medical condition or disability, a mainstream child has to attend a particular school that 
is not the nearest qualifying school but is over the statutory walking distance, then travel assistance 
will be agreed to the allocated school. Medical evidence must be provided that demonstrates why 
the child needs to attend that school.

Where a school operates on multiple or split sites, the assessment of nearest qualifying school will 
take account of the sites used to prioritise admissions (as defined in each school’s admission 
arrangements), regardless of which year groups are educated at which site or which site a child 
might attend.

If for any reason a school chooses to educate children on a temporary site, the assessment of 
nearest school will disregard the temporary site and will instead use the intended permanent site of 
the school or, if that has not yet been determined, the current main site of the school. However, see 
the next section for confirmation of the site to be used to assess the home to school walking 
distance.

Where an out of County school is identified as a child’s nearest qualifying school and the distance of 
the walking route to that school would mean that transport would still need to be provided, free 
home to school transport will be made available to Surrey children attending their nearest 
geographical Surrey school (measured by the shortest road route), subject to the distance thresholds 
appropriate to the age of the child being met.

4.3  How walking distance is measured

Page 60



Walking distances are calculated using the shortest available walking route from the home address 
to school. If families believe that the walking route measured is not available to walk they should 
request a review of the route. See section 3.3 for more details.

The legal definition of an ‘available walking route’ is a route along which a child, accompanied as 
necessary, can walk and walk with reasonable safety to school.

Where a school operates on a temporary site and that school's permanent/current site is deemed to 
be a child's nearest qualifying school, the home to school walking distance will be measured to the 
school's temporary site to determine if the child lives over the statutory walking distance and is 
eligible for travel assistance. Eligibility will be reassessed at the point a child ceases to be educated 
at the temporary site.

Distances will be measured using the Admissions & Transport Team’s Geographical Information 
System from the address point of the pupil’s house, as set by Ordnance Survey, to either the nearest 
school gate available for pupils to use when measuring to a Surrey school, or the address point of 
the school property, as set by Ordnance Survey, when measuring to a school outside Surrey.

4.4 Route Safety Assessment

Where a parent/carer believes the assessed walking route to be unsafe, they should write to 
Surrey’s Home to School Transport team outlining the aspect of the route they believe to be unsafe 

The route will then be referred to the Safer Travel Team who will review the route using ‘Road 
Safety GB Guidelines on Assessment of Walked Routes to School’. 

4.5  Extended Rights

Parents who believe they meet the Extended Rights criteria and are therefore eligible for assistance 
with travel to school must include with their application evidence of the child’s entitlement to free 
school meals or the family’s receipt of maximum level of Working Tax Credit (WTC) with their 
application form.

A child who has been assessed as eligible for travel assistance by meeting the Extended Rights 
criteria will have their entitlement reviewed each academic year to ensure that the child continues 
to meet the necessary entitlement criteria.

If a child ceases to be eligible for free school meals or a family ceases to be entitled to the maximum 
level of Working Tax Credit during the academic year for which transport has been awarded, travel 
assistance will continue until the end of that academic year. 

If the child is applying for travel assistance to a school of faith under Extended Rights eligibility, then 
the parents must also provide supporting evidence regarding their genuine adherence to their 
religion or belief and this will normally be confirmed by asking their minister of religion to sign the 
application form.

4.6  Special educational needs, disability and mobility problems

Where a child with special education needs, a disability and/or mobility problems does not meet the 
other three eligibility criteria, but has identified specific needs/circumstances that may mean it is 

Page 61



unreasonable to expect the child to walk to school (accompanied by an adult as necessary), then an 
assessment based on their individual needs and circumstances will be undertaken.

In determining whether a child cannot reasonably be expected to walk between home and school, 
the Council will consider whether the child could reasonably be expected to walk if accompanied 
and, if so, whether the child’s parent or carer can reasonably be expected to accompany their child. 
Ordinarily, the expectation is that a child will be accompanied by a parent or carer. 

When assessing entitlement for travel assistance for a child with SEND or mobility problems, the 
Council will consider the individual needs of each child. This may include taking professional advice 
from educational psychologists, medical officers and teachers and consulting with parents and carers 
before arriving at a final decision. Consideration will also be given to the child’s physical and medical 
requirements including any disabilities they may have. Assessments may include face to face contact 
with the child. The findings and decision will be recorded on a transport assessment form.

The following factors will be taken into consideration when assessing transport entitlement: 
 the age of the child
 the distance of the child from school to home
 whether the child is physically able to walk the journey to school
 whether the walking route is appropriate for the pupil and their specific needs and allows 

them to arrive in a fit state to be educated 
 whether a child’s emotional and behavioural difficulties will create a clear health and safety 

hazard to themselves or others on the journey to school
 the SEND of the child
 the efficient utilisation of resources
 any other individual circumstance

This is not an exhaustive list. It is not presented in any particular order and is for guidance only. 
Meeting one or more of the criteria does not automatically entitle a child with SEND to transport 
assistance.

The fact that a child has an EHCP or attends a special school does not automatically entitle him or 
her to transport assistance.

Eligibility for transport assistance is related to the child’s needs. Assessment may take into account 
the need for transport assistance due to some family circumstances. This will primarily be if a child 
has other siblings attending schools not local to the SEN provision offered to them, or is offered SEN 
provision at a school which is not their local provision. These factors will be considered when 
determining eligibility for home to school travel assistance and deciding on the type of transport to 
be provided. Other family circumstances, such as parents and carers attending work or looking after 
other children, cannot be considered when determining eligibility. 

4.7 Extenuating circumstances

Recognising that the Council’s discretionary powers should not be unreasonably fettered by its 
general policy, the Council will consider and may agree requests for home to school transport where 
there are considered to be extenuating circumstances that prevent a child accessing their school 
unless travel assistance is put in place. If the parent believes extenuating circumstances exist and 
assistance with travel is necessary then a transport case review form must be completed and 
submitted with all relevant information and evidence for consideration. 

Page 62



The overriding expectation is that parents should undertake their legal responsibility to get their 
child(ren) to and from school and as such the Council will need to be satisfied that the parent has 
demonstrated why they, for social, medical, financial or personal reasons cannot undertake this 
duty. 

The determination will be based on evidence received to support the case whether transport is 
necessary in order for the child to receive an education. Consideration will be given as to whether 
the circumstances could have reasonably been foreseen by the parent/carer. For example, moving 
to temporary accommodation owing to flood damage cannot be foreseen, whereas choosing a 
school other than a child’s nearest school and realising following this decision that transport is not 
available could be foreseen. 

Where it is decided that a child does not qualify for assistance with travel based on the presented 
needs/circumstances then it remains the parent/carer’s responsibility to ensure school attendance 
or consider transferring the child to a more local school. 

In all cases the decision whether to exercise discretion will be taken on a case by case basis.

4.8 Special consideration and appeals 

Parents/carers of children who live in Surrey and who wish to appeal a decision about one of the 
following, may apply for their case to be considered at a transport case review:

 the transport arrangements offered; 
 their child’s eligibility; 
 the distance measurement in relation to statutory walking distances; and 
 the safety of the route. 

During an appeal about an application for travel assistance, transport will not be provided to the 
child/young person. Where the appeal concerns a change to existing travel arrangements, then the 
previously agreed travel arrangements will continue until the review is complete.

Stage one: Case review by a senior officer 

Parents/carers must complete a stage one transport case review form on which they must indicate 
whether they believe the original decision to be wrong or whether they wish their case to be 
considered as an exception to the policy. The form must be returned with details of the case within 
20 working days from receipt of the original transport decision. 

The written request should detail why the parent/carer believes the decision should be reviewed 
and give details of any personal and/or family circumstances they believe should be considered. 

Within 20 working days of receipt of the written request a senior officer, who was not involved with 
making the original decision, will review the case. More complex cases may sometimes exceed the 
20 working day turnaround time for review.

The senior officer will write to the parent/carer, normally within five working days of the review, 
setting out: 

 the decision reached; 
 how the review was conducted; 
 information about other departments and/or agencies that were consulted as 

part of the process; 

Page 63



 what factors were considered; 
 the rationale for the decision reached; and 
 information about how the parent/carer can escalate their case to stage two (if 

appropriate). 

Where possible, applications for review at stage one of the review process should be accompanied 
by independent supporting evidence such as from a GP or consultant, a social worker, the police, 
other local authority officers and copies of relevant court orders as appropriate.  

With the exception of eligibility based on extended entitlement for families on low income, 
qualification for travel assistance is not means-tested, and family income will not normally be given 
special consideration under this review process.

When considering reviews, the following will also not normally be taken into account:
 Parent/carers’ work or other commitments.
 Attendance by siblings at other schools.
 A work experience placement.
 An address other than the home address, including a childminder’s address.
 Ad hoc visits to other establishments or locations.
 Out of hours clubs (e.g. breakfast club, after school activities).

Stage two: Case review by an independent panel 

If the parent/carer remains unhappy with the decision at stage one of the transport case review, 
they can complete a ‘Stage 2 transport case review form’ to request that their case is escalated to a 
panel of three Surrey County Council Members. Members on the stage two case review panel will be 
independent of the original decision making process and will not have had any prior involvement 
with the case or be connected to the school or family in question.   

Requests for a stage two case review must be made within 20 working days from receipt of the local 
authority’s stage one written decision. 

Stage two case reviews will normally be considered within 40 working days of receipt of the 
parent/carers request for it to be escalated. A copy of the paperwork that has been submitted to the 
stage two case review panel will be sent to the parent at least seven working days prior to the 
review. 

The parent/carer will be asked to indicate on the ‘Stage 2 transport case review form’ whether or 
not they wish to attend the review to present their case verbally. An officer for the local authority 
will also be invited to present the local authority’s case. Parent/carers are not required to attend and 
if they do not indicate that they wish to attend the review will be scheduled to be heard in their 
absence.  

The stage two case review panel will give equal consideration to all case reviews whether conducted 
in the presence of all parties or heard in the absence of one/both parties.  If the panel considers that 
further information is required, the case will be adjourned so that the information can be made 
available.  

Where a parent/carer chooses to attend the stage two case review, the panel chairman will:

Page 64



 welcome all parties and introduce the panel members, clerk, and officer of the local 
authority.

 explain the procedure, clearly and simply, including the panel’s remit.
 explain that the panel has read the full written case.
 invite the applicant to briefly highlight the main points of their application.
 invite the officer for the local authority to briefly highlight the main points of the local 

authority’s case.

The panel will seek clarification on points raised by either party if required. 

Once the parent/carer and officer for the local authority have left, the panel will reach a decision as 
to whether to uphold or reject the review. When the panel considers its decisions, the clerk must 
remain with the panel solely for the purpose of offering advice on procedure or law, making 
reference to notes or evidence and record decisions, including the reasons for them.  

The clerk to the stage two case review panel will write to the parent/carer, normally within five 
working days of the review, setting out: 

 the decision reached; 
 how the review was conducted; 
 information about other departments and/or agencies that were consulted as 

part of the process; 
 what factors were considered; 
 the rationale for the decision reached; and 
 information about the parent/carer’s right to put the matter to the Local 

Government Ombudsman (see below). 

Local Government Ombudsman

There is a right of complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman, but only if the complainant 
considers that there was a failure to comply with the procedural rules or if there are any other 
irregularities in the way the review has been handled. Further advice is available at www.lgo.org.uk 
or on the Local Government Ombudsman advice line on 0300 061 0614.

If the complainant considers the decision of the independent panel to be flawed on public law 
grounds, the complainant may also apply for judicial review.

5. Children below the age of 5

5.1 Children attending Reception classes

Ordinarily and in accordance with the Council’s statutory duty, children under the age of 5 will not 
be entitled to travel assistance between their home and school. Where circumstances exist where 
the Council determines that travel assistance is necessary it may apply its discretionary powers on a 
case by case basis.  The Council makes this determination through the special consideration and 
appeals process set out in Section 4.8.  

A child becomes of compulsory school age at the start of term after their 5th birthday.

Page 65



5.2 Pre-school children with SEND

Local authorities do not have a duty to provide or arrange free transport for children who have not 
yet reached compulsory school age and who are attending a pre-school setting.   However, the 
Council will consider transport assistance applications for children below statutory school age in 
exceptional circumstances.  The Council makes this determination through the special consideration 
and appeals process set out in Section 4.8.  

6.  Young people aged 16 – 19

Local authorities do not have to provide free or subsidised post-16 travel support but do have a duty 
to prepare and publish an annual transport policy statement specifying the arrangements for the 
provision of transport or other support that the local authority considers it necessary to make to 
facilitate the attendance of all persons of sixth form age receiving education or training.

6.1 Policy statement 

The annual statement must state to what extent the arrangements make provision for facilitating 
attendance of disabled persons and persons with learning difficulties or disabilities at education or 
training.  ‘Sixth form age’ refers to those young people who are over 16 years of age but under 19 or 
continuing learners who started their programme of learning before their 19th birthday (Years 12, 
13 and 14).

Local authorities also have a duty to encourage, enable and assist young people with learning 
difficulties or disabilities to participate in education and training, up to the age of 25 years. 
This policy, for ease, will separate the support which can be offered to post-16 young people into 
two categories, as the duties on the local authority to provide transport differ, and we want to make 
this transparent: 

‘Post-16’ will include both learners of sixth form age and those with learning difficulties or 
disabilities up to the age of 19 (the academic year in which they turn 19) or learners over 19 
completing courses started before they turned 19.

‘Post-19’ will include learners aged 19 to 25 (starting from the academic year after they turn 19). 
This policy document specifies the support that Surrey County Council considers necessary to 
facilitate the attendance of Post 16 learners receiving education or training.

All young people in Year 11 receiving travel assistance must reapply for travel support for their post-
16 education or training.

Education or training refers to learning or training at a school, further education institution, a council 
maintained or assisted institution providing higher or further education, an establishment funded 
directly by the Education Skills Funding Agency, learning providers delivering accredited programmes 
of learning which lead to positive outcomes and are funded by the council, for example, colleges, 
charities and private learning providers.

The Council will exercise its discretion to provide travel assistance for learners aged 16 to 19 where it 
considers that travel assistance is necessary to enable the young person to reasonably access their 
education or training provision. 

The Council is clear that as young people with SEND approach adulthood, where appropriate 
transport assistance will be provided to support independence. 

Page 66



In assessing eligibility for students entering post-16 education and training for travel assistance, 
particular attention will be paid to the following criteria. 

 Whether the student is currently in receipt of any funding from the 16 to 19 Bursary Fund 
and to what value 

 The location of the sixth form unit or college the student would like to attend (if this is not a 
local provision, the local authority would need to know that the course being taken is not 
available locally). 

 Whether the sixth form unit is an extension to the school previously attended by the student 
and named in their EHCP. 

 The distance from the student’s home to their education or training establishment and the 
journey time. 

 Whether the young person has SEND and/or mobility difficulties which would impede their 
access to their educational placement, either independently or otherwise, for example, a 
wheelchair user. 

 Whether the young person has SEND which would make it unsafe for them to travel 
independently. 

 Whether the public transport journey to the nearest suitable placement is too complex for 
the young person to be expected to travel independently. 

6.2  Financial contributions 

Where it is agreed that additional assistance is required, the local authority will ask students or their 
parents/carers to contribute towards transport costs.  In academic year 2020/21 those costs are as 
follows:

 £543.30 for the academic year for students whose families are in receipt of the maximum 
Working Tax Credit and /or who continue to meet the eligibility criteria for Free School Meals; 
students in care; care leavers; those on Income Support/Universal Credit in their own right; 
disabled young people who receive Employment Support Allowance/Universal Credit and either 
Disability Living Allowance or Personal Independence Payment in their name, or

 £751.50 for the academic year for all other students.

7. Young people aged 19 – 25 

The post-19 (19 to 25) Home to School Travel Policy will be focused upon a needs-led approach in 
which the individual needs of each young adult are assessed to inform the appropriate form of travel 
support, as we move away from standard provision in favour of a policy which recognises that young 
people are, in many cases, more capable of achieving independent travel than pupils of statutory 
school age. 

The post-19 (19 to 25) transport powers held by the Council apply to young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities aged between 19 and 25 inclusive who have an education health 
and care plan.

The Council will consider assistance with travel is necessary to enable young adults with EHCPs to 
maintain attendance at their education placement. If it is identified that assistance is necessary then 
there would be no charge/financial contribution expected from the young adult. 

Page 67



For post-19 students starting a new course, you must also evidence why it is necessary for the 
Council and not the student to make travel arrangements. To assess this and understand the 
individual circumstances, we would need to know:

 What other arrangements you have considered or tried and why they are not suitable
 If there is a family member or carer who is willing and able to transport the student and if 

not, why it would not be possible or reasonable for them to do so
 Whether the student is in receipt of higher rate mobility component of the Personal 

Independence Payment or Disability Living Allowance, the purpose of which is to assist those 
who have mobility problems, with severe difficulty walking or who need help getting around 
outside. We would normally expect this benefit to be fully utilised and if there are any 
factors limiting its use you should provide details of them.

 Whether there is a ‘motability’ vehicle for which the student may or may not be the driver. 
 Any other needs or circumstances that you consider need to be taken into account and the 

Council consider any recent supporting evidence that you provide

Each request will be assessed on a case by case basis, considering the law, Council policy and any 
supporting information provided.

8. Children attending schools on grounds of religion or belief

Ordinarily assistance with travel to a faith school will only be provided if it is the nearest suitable 
school. If parental preference results in children’s attendance at a faith school when there are 
suitable schools nearer to home, then no travel assistance will normally be provided. However, 
travel assistance may be provided if children meet the Extended Rights eligibility category criteria 
then assistance to a faith school which is not the nearest suitable school may be considered (see 
section 3.4 for more details)

Under Extended Rights, when considering whether a faith school is preferred on the grounds of 
religion or belief, Surrey County Council will take into account the nature of other schools that may 
have been named as higher preferences on the application form. For an application for travel 
assistance to be agreed under this section, the expectation will be that the school that is preferred 
on the grounds of religion or belief will be named above any non-faith schools that have been 
named on the application form.

When applying under Extended Rights for travel to a faith school, parents must provide supporting 
evidence regarding their genuine adherence to their religion or belief and this will normally be 
confirmed by asking their minister of religion to sign the application form

9. Travel assistance options

9.1 Forms of travel assistance

The Council will review the travel needs of all eligible children and decide the most appropriate form 
of assistance that will be provided. The form of travel offered will reflect the most appropriate use of 
public funds to ensure cost effective provision is in place, whilst also ensuring that any agreed 
specific requirements, such as medical/mobility or health needs are also taken into accommodated 
where necessary. 

Page 68



In accordance with national guidance a journey to school for eligible children should be suitable, safe 
and reasonably stress free to enable the children to arrive at school ready for a day of study. To this 
end it is considered reasonable that journey times for children are as follows:

 45 minutes for primary aged pupils.
 75 minutes for secondary aged pupils.

However, it is recognised that adhering to journey times may not always be possible particularly in 
rural areas. It may be deemed acceptable for a trip to exceed these journey times if it is considered 
that the additional time does not place undue stress, strain or difficulty on the pupil, which would 
prevent them from benefitting from the education.

Where children with special educational needs, disability or mobility problems are present then 
journey times may sometimes need to be longer and more complex, although the Council will 
ensure that it does not extend routes for such children unnecessarily with appropriate measures in 
place to address any implications for doing so.

Subject to meeting the eligibility criteria of this policy, the following assistance will be considered:

 A free bus or train pass. 
 A seat on a school coach.
 Where a Surrey travel pass is not appropriate, such as where a child is travelling to 

an out of County school, parents can claim for reimbursement of the cost for their child 
to travel to school by bus or train. Parents will be asked to submit a claim form at the 
end of each term and evidence of the cost of the tickets purchased must be submitted. 
The refund will be for the lowest equivalent public transport rate between the pupil’s 
home and the school.

 Independent Travel Training
 Travel Allowance – For children with an EHCP
 Where reimbursement is the most cost effective method of providing home to 

school travel assistance, for example where no public transport service or contracted 
vehicle is available, parents who take their child to school by car may claim a petrol 
allowance for the journeys undertaken whilst the child is on board. The mileage rates to 
be used will be set in line with the Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) rates 
that are designed to cover fuel and running costs for each mile of travel. The mileage to 
be used will be the shortest road route from the home address to the school. For car 
users taking more than one child, only a single application will be considered per family. 

 Shared contract transport vehicle (coach, minibus, taxi) using collection point
 Shared contract transport vehicle (coach, minibus, taxi) using home collection
 Other bespoke travel options that enable travel and the development of travel skills 

and independence e.g. Travel Buddy

Taxis will only be provided if there is no alternative mode of transport which provides a suitable 
journey to school or if a child’s medical condition and/or disability means that he/she is unable to 
travel using the alternative modes of transport that are available

No bus/train tickets will be issued for part journeys of one mile or less unless that route has been 
deemed to be an unsafe walking route or unless a child cannot walk the distance due to special 
educational needs, disability or mobility problems.

Page 69



Provision will be reviewed periodically and if a more economical mode of transport becomes 
available then the parent may be given notice of a change to the mode of transport. 

9.2 Travel allowance

This is an allowance that can be provided by Surrey County Council to parents of children with an 
EHCP and who are eligible for travel assistance.

A parent may choose to accept the travel allowance in lieu of arranged travel assistance by the 
Council. This enables families to make their own arrangements to facilitate travel and access to 
education.   A travel allowance will only be offered where it is less expensive than any alternative 
form of travel assistance.  

Any arrangements made by the parent using the travel allowance are the responsibility of the 
parent.

The travel allowance is tiered based on the shortest straight line distance between the home and the 
school, as follows:

Direct distance 
(miles)

Annual payment 
5 days a week (10 
trips)

Annual payment 
5 days a week 
(mornings only)

Annual payment 
3 days per week (6 
trips)

0 – 5.99 1,600   800 1,280
6.00 – 10.99 2,700 1,350 2,160
11.00 – 15.99 4,200 2,100 3,360
16.00 plus 5,000 2,500 4,000

The option to take up the independent travel allowance for certain days of the week or mornings 
only, enables parents to work collaboratively with Surrey County Council. Where this is possible, the 
Council will provide travel assistance to cover the journeys that parents are unable to complete. 
However where this applies the Council expects parents to undertake the routes they can complete 
consistently and the parent will need to ensure all journeys are covered.

Where there are two or more children living at the same address and attending the same school and 
the independent travel allowance has been agreed for one child, additional travel assistance will not 
be provided for the other children as all children would be expected to travel together. 

If the parent transports siblings to different schools the allowance due would be based on the 
straight line distance between home and school A plus the straight line distance between school A 
and school B.

The travel allowance is paid over 10 months (October to July) if the child is entitled from the start of 
the school year. Parents will need to nominate a bank account before any payments are made. 

The travel allowance is based on the child’s attendance being over 80% for the full year. Attendance 
records will be requested from the school at the end of each term. If the child’s attendance shows 
poor attendance in the Autumn or Spring terms than the parent may be transferred to the standard 
travel reimbursement rate instead of the travel allowance. Alternatively, if the child’s attendance is 
below 80% than the final month’s payment will be reduced. 

Page 70



If a parent is in receipt of the travel allowance but is temporarily unable to transport their child to 
school due to a short-term illness or medical condition, temporary assistance may be provided. 
However, this may take up to ten working days to put in place.

10 Independent Travel

10.1 Independent Travel Training (ITT)

Local authorities have a duty to encourage, enable and assist the participation of young people with 
learning difficulties or disabilities up to the age of 25 in education and training.  Independent travel 
training aims to achieve this.

Independent travel is a valuable skill for preparing for adulthood, an essential employability skill, and 
provides greater opportunities for young people, not least increasing confidence in their abilities and 
reducing their sense of reliance on family members.

In line with the Council’s aims and objectives to support independence and prepare young people 
for adulthood, and where appropriate employment, ITT will be expanded as an option from April 
2020.  The Council will identifying young people who could benefit from ITT and contact their 
families to invite them to take part in ITT. 

The Council will also contact young people and their families who will be transitioning from 
compulsory education into Post16 and above to invite them to take part in ITT.

An ITT assessment will be carried out in the home, with the support of the family, to confirm the 
suitability of the young person for the ITT programme, taking into account the following criteria:

 Existing level of independent travel skills
 The likelihood of the pupil being eligible for SEN transport under the 16 to 19 policy
 The age of the pupil
 The distance between home and school
 The SEND of the pupil
 The route which the young person would need to undertake
 Journey times using public transport and the complexity of the journey
 The frequency of the journeys required

This assessment would take place before the pupil undertakes the ITT programme, which would last 
for approximately four to six weeks. During the programme, the pupil will travel to and from their 
education or training provision each day with their dedicated one to one ITT trainer.

During the period when a pupil is taking part in the ITT, this will be their travel assistance offer. At 
the end of the ITT programme, the Council will review the pupil’s progress with the family to decide 
if it is appropriate for the pupil to continue to travel independently.    If it is not appropriate for the 
pupil to travel independently, their previous transport offer will be reinstated. Although it is 
expected that the majority of young people would benefit from ITT, it is however acknowledged that 
for a some young people, due to the nature of their SEND, ITT will not be appropriate.

10.2 Collection points

Collection points are similar to bus stops, where the Council identifies designated pick-up and drop-
off locations for the pupil to meet the bus or taxi rather than offering a door-to-door service. This 

Page 71



reduces the time needed for the route to pick up the pupils and supports children and young people 
to become more independent and better prepares them for adulthood. 

Where the introduction of collection points is being considered, the Council will formally carry out a 
28 day consultation with the parents and carers already on those routes affected by this potential 
change in service. Achieving this level of independence will not be possible for some children and 
young people with the most complex SEND needs, and in some cases parents’ own mobility or 
disability may impact on them being able to accompany their child to a collection point. Where this 
is the case, the ambition for the service is to improve the range of options available for families to 
take responsibility for their own children’s transport where this is desired and appropriate. In such 
circumstances, the Council will carefully consider and assess the individual child’s needs as well as 
the mobility and or disability of their parents. 

Where a collection point is allocated, it is the parent’s or carer’s responsibility to make sure that 
their child travels to and from the collection point and transfers to and from the vehicle safely. 

Parents who are temporarily unable to take their child to a collection point: no temporary 
assistance will be provided in those circumstances where a parent or carer is unable to take their 
child to and from a collection point for onward transport to school by a transport company. This is 
because the child’s special educational need or disability has not changed and the transport service 
from the collection point is still available. 

All collection points will be within a one-mile walking distance of the home and will be assessed in 
advanced for their suitability. 

 Wherever a bus stop can be legally used as a collection point, it will be. 
 Minibuses can stop to collect and drop off on yellow and double yellow lines; vehicles 

cannot stop on red routes, white zig zags (near a zebra crossing) or school keep-clear 
hatchings. 

 The driver always plans not to cause obstructions to other road users while making a drop 
off or collection and will try to stop in parking areas or bays. 

 Collections or drop-off are always made kerb side. 
 Each collection point is physically assessed before being used in service; a driver will go out 

and test to see if the location is safe (for example, a well-lit public location, not too close to a 
junction or on the brow of a hill) 

 The drivers complete dynamic risk assessments at the time of collections or /drop offs in the 
eventuality of any changes (new road layouts, another road user in the stopping space) and 
will slightly adjust the collection point if it is unsafe to stop. 

11 Other arrangements when a child is not eligible

11.1 Surrey Student Fare Card for reduced rate bus and/or rail travel

The majority of students aged 16 – 19 will be expected to take advantage of the Surrey Student Fare 
Card which enabled travel at reduced rates on bus and train to school sixth forms and colleges. 

Surrey Student Fare Cards are available to young people up to the end of the academic year which 
they reach their 18th Birthday, who live in one of the administrative boroughs/districts of Surrey, are 
attending a full time education course on the date of the card’s issue, and their journey starts and/or 
finishes in Surrey. Surrey Student Fare Cards are issued for one academic year.

Page 72



Young people may purchase a Surrey Student Fare Card from the council at a cost of £25 per academic 
year. This entitles them to purchase single and return tickets at under 16 fares. 

Student Fare Cards are issued by the Student Fare Card Team at Surrey County Council. You can 
apply online at www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/school-transport. More 
information is available on the Surrey County Council website, from the Surrey Schools and Childcare 
Service on 0300 200 1004, at schools, colleges and libraries.

A student fare card can only be used for travel to and from school or college. Your journey must start 
or finish in the 11 boroughs/districts of Surrey. If you need to change onto a bus route operating 
totally outside the county, you'll not be able to use your card for that part of the journey.

The following bus companies have agreed to charge the under-16 rate for any journey which starts 
or finishes in the 11 boroughs/districts of Surrey, including evenings, weekends, and school/college 
holidays.

 Arriva (service Surrey and West Sussex)
 Cobham Chatterbus
 Compass Bus
 Falcon Buses
 First
 Hallmark Connections: Students (16-19) travelling on Hallmark buses can redeem 

student/child fares with just their college/university student card.
 London General
 Metrobus
 Quality Line
 Safeguard
 Southdown
 Stagecoach
 White Bus Services

11.2 National 16 – 17 Saver (Train)
 In January 2019 the Department of Transport announced the launch of a new national Railcard 
scheme which will benefit 16-17 year olds. This Railcard offer 16-17 year olds a 50% discount on rail 
travel, and will be available from September this year. More information will be available over the 
summer months on the website https://www.railcard.co.uk

The Department for Transport has launched the new 16-17 Saver. The Saver offers 16-17 year olds:

 a 50% discount off standard anytime, off-peak, PlusBus, advance and season 
tickets.

 Can be used on South Western Railways, Southern and Great Western Railway 
network and across the National Rail network (except on ScotRail and Caledonian 
Sleeper services)

 The cards cost £30 and are valid for one year or until your 18th birthday.

Page 73

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/school-transport
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/borough-and-district-council-responsibilities
https://www.railcard.co.uk/


 a season ticket purchased before your 18th birthday can run up to 4 months after 
you turn 18. For example if you turn 18 in February then you can purchase a season 
ticket which will still give you 50% discount for travel up until June 2020

11.3  Surrey 17-19 Train student fare card

If the National Train Card scheme does not meet your child’s needs you may apply for a Surrey 17 –
19 Train student fare card.

The Surrey 17 - 19 Train Student Fare Cards are issued at the start of the academic year, and 
expire at the end of the summer term. They are available to young persons in Post 16 full time 
learning and education (e.g. attending school sixth form or college) aged 16-18 and those 
completing courses started prior to their 19th birthday.

Young people may purchase a Surrey 17 – 19 Train Student Fare Card for £25 which will 
enable them to obtain a discounted season ticket for train travel to and from educational 
establishments.

Surrey Student Fare Card and Surrey 17 – 19 Train Student Fare Card can be renewed each year, 
as long as the applicant remains eligible.

Student Fare Cards are issued by the Student Fare Card Team at Surrey County Council. You can 
apply online at www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/school-transport. More 
information is available on the Surrey County Council website, from the Surrey Schools and Childcare 
Service on 0300 200 1004, at schools, colleges and libraries.

Students with an Education, Health and Care Plan and or a disability/limited mobility may also 
qualify for reduced fares if they are eligible for the disabled person’s bus pass 
(www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/buses-and-other-transport/tickets-and-discounts/free-
bus-passes-for-disabled-people).

11.4 Buy seats from other bus operators

 Young people may also purchase seats on vehicles run by individual schools, colleges or by third 
party commercial operators on the school or college’s behalf. For information on available routes 
please check individual school/college websites. 

11. 5 Further Education Residential Support Scheme 

Young people can apply for support if they need to attend a course that is not available within 
reasonable daily travelling distance and if similar courses are not available nearer the young person’s 
home. Further information can be found at; www.direct.gov.uk/en/EducationAndLearning

11.6 The 16 to 19 Bursary Fund 

Learners may be able to access some funding towards transport costs directly from individual 
education and training providers, from the 16 to 19 Bursary Fund. The 16 to 19 Bursary Fund 
provides financial support to help young people overcome specific barriers to participation so they 
can remain in education. Each learning provider has some discretionary funding that can be used for 
this purpose, subject to their own criteria. Resources are limited so learners should make an 
application to their school or college as early as possible in the academic year. 
There are two types of 16 to 19 bursaries: 

Page 74

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/school-transport
http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/EducationAndLearning


A vulnerable bursary of up to £1,200 a year for young people in one of the defined vulnerable groups 
below: 

 in care 
 care leavers 
 in receipt of Income Support, or Universal Credit in place of Income Support, in their own 

right 
 in receipt of Employment and Support Allowance or Universal Credit and Disability Living or 

Personal Independence Payments in their own right 

Discretionary bursaries which institutions award to meet individual needs, for example, help with 
the cost of transport, meals, books and equipment 

To be eligible for the discretionary bursary young people must: 
 be aged 16 or over but under 19 at 31 August 2019 or 
 be aged 19 or over at 31 August 2019 and have an education, health and care plan (EHCP) 
 be aged 19 or over at 31 August 2019 and continuing on a study programme they began 

aged 16 to 18 (‘19+ continuers’) 
 be studying a programme that is subject to inspection by a public body which assures quality 

(such as Ofsted), the provision must also be funded by either a Government funding agency 
or the local authority 

Education and training providers are responsible for managing both types of bursary. Young people 
who want to apply for support from the bursary fund should contact their chosen school or college 
to make an application. 
Further information can be found at www.gov.uk/ search for post-16 bursaries.

11.7 Young parents or Care to Learn 

If you are a young parent under 20, Care to Learn can help pay for your childcare and related travel 
costs, up to £160 per child per week, while you’re learning. 
Care to Learn can help with the cost of: 

 childcare, including deposit and registration fees 
 a childcare ‘taster’ session (up to 5 days) 
 keeping your childcare place over the summer holidays 
 taking your child to the childcare provider 

Types of child care 
The childcare provider must be Ofsted registered and can be a: 

 childminder 
 pre-school playgroup 
 day nursery 
 out of school club 

If your child needs specialist childcare, the provider must also be on the Care Quality Commission’s 
register for specialist provision. 

If you want a relative to get Care to Learn for looking after your child they need to be both: 
 providing registered childcare for children they’re not related to 
 living apart from you and your child 

Page 75



Payments 
Childcare payments go directly to your childcare provider. Before your childcare provider can be 
paid:

 your childcare provider needs to confirm your child’s attendance.
 your school or college needs to confirm that you’re attending your course 

Payments for travel costs go to your school or college - they’ll either pay you or arrange travel for 
you. 

Attendance 
Payments will stop if: 

 you stop attending your course 
 you finish your course 
 your child stops attending childcare 

Eligibility 
You can get Care to Learn if: 

 you’re a parent under 20 at the start of your course 
 you’re the main carer for your child 
 you live in England 
 you’re either a British citizen or a national of a European Economic Area (EEA) country 
 your course is publicly funded (check with your school or college) 
 your childcare provider is registered with Ofsted or the Care Quality Commission 

Type of course 
Care to Learn is only available for courses in England that have some public funding. 
This includes courses that take place in: 

 schools 
 school sixth forms 
 sixth form colleges 
 other colleges and learning providers, including Foundation Learning 
 your community at children’s centres 

Young parents are also entitled to apply for an under-19 bus only ticket or for those aged 19 and 
over can apply for the 19 to 25 card. 
For more information please visit www.gov.uk/care-to-learn/how-to-claim

11.8  Concessionary Seats

The Council provides transport for children who have a statutory entitlement to free home to 
school transport, where it is best value to use this mode of transport. If there are any spare 
seats available on these routes, they are available for purchase by pupils who do not meet the 
statutory entitlement criteria. Spare seats will be allocated on an annual basis; however, a seat 
may be withdrawn at any time at short notice if it is required by a pupil with a statutory 
entitlement to transport. Places are offered according to published criteria available on 
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/concessionary-seat

12 Implementing the policy

Page 76

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/schools/transport/concessionary-seat


This section sets out some of the operational standards that we will follow in delivering our statutory 
responsibilities for home to school transport.  We want to make this transparent for all parents and 
carers in particular so that they understand how the service operates.  

Provision of contracted transport vehicles (coaches, buses, minibuses and taxis)

When a child is entitled to home to school transport under the Council’s policy, the Council will 
provide suitable transport and seek to ensure this is cost effective.  The transport provided may take 
the form of a bus pass, train pass, seat on a contract vehicle, for instance a hired coach, a minibus or 
shared taxi.  A travel allowance can also be provided for children with an EHCP where requested by 
parents or carers and where it is more cost effective.

Provision of transport for part-time hours

In accordance with statutory guidance, home to school transport will only be provided at the start 
and finish of the normal school or college day.  The provision of transport for part-time hours does 
not fall within local authorities’ statutory duties and will not be provided.  Schools and parents and 
carers should take this into account when bespoke hours are being set for a child.  Where families 
wish to have more flexible travel arrangements, a travel allowance can be requested. 

However, where exceptional circumstances can be evidenced to show that a child with an EHCP is 
unable to partake in a full day’s schooling, Surrey County Council may consider short term 
arrangements if a reintegration plan can be provided outlining the child’s return to full time 
education.

Provision of transport for after school and non educational activities

In accordance with statutory guidance, home to school transport will only be provided at the start 
and finish of the normal school or college day.  The provision of transport for non-statutory 
education or clubs does not fall within local authorities’ statutory duties and will not be provided.  
Parents are expected to make travel arrangements for their children in these circumstances.   Where 
families wish to have more flexible travel arrangements, a travel allowance can be requested. 

Home address and house moves

In accordance with statutory guidance, home to school transport will only be provided from and to a 
single address at which the child or young person is habitually resident. Where a child splits their 
time equally between addresses, transport will be assessed from the address which is registered 
with the school as the home address or, prior to admission, the address used on the relevant school 
admission application form. 

For children without an EHCP
Assistance with travel will not normally be agreed to a child’s existing school if a house-move results 
in the prescribed distance being breached but there are other nearer schools with an available place 

However, assistance may be agreed if the child is in years 6, 10 or 11 at the time of the move and if 
there are extenuating circumstances that the Council deem sufficient to provide assistance on a 
discretionary basis. Where parents wish their case to be considered on this basis, they should 
provide details along with independent evidence of their case.

Assistance with travel may also be agreed even if the school attended is not the nearest suitable 
with places. If the move is an enforced temporary council move within Surrey that is anticipated to 
last less than 6 months or where a parent has moved to a refuge in Surrey, and the distance from 

Page 77



home to school meets the agreed criteria, assistance with travel may be considered. Evidence of an 
enforced temporary council move/move to a refuge must be provided. Travel assistance agreed 
under this provision may only be agreed for a fixed period of time and will be subject to periodic 
review.
  
For children with an EHCP
If a child with an EHCP moves address, the SEND team will review the plan to consider if the school 
being attended is still the nearest suitable school that can meet the child’s needs. If it is, and the 
child continues to meet the agreed eligibility criteria, then travel assistance will continue. If a 
suitable school is identified nearer to new home address then the SEND team may consult with the 
family over a change to the school named in the EHCP.

Pick up and drop off timing

Routes to and from school and pick-up and drop-off times are planned by the transport provider to 
be as efficient as possible for all students traveling on the vehicle.  Because of this, it is not possible 
to accommodate the individual circumstances of each family, such as work commitments or taking 
other children to and from school. Where families wish to have more flexible travel arrangements, a 
travel allowance can be requested. 

Journey Length

As a general guide, the Council will aim for the maximum journey time of 45 minutes for a child of 
primary school age, and 75 minutes for a child of secondary school age.  It is recognised that this 
may not always be possible, particularly in rural areas.  Journeys for children with special educational 
needs and disabilities travelling long distances to schools are likely to have longer journey times.  

Dual and link placements, inclusion and pupil referral units

Dual placements are where a child or young person attends more than one school or where a school 
arranges a college link placement for a pupil.  Dual placements may require additional transport 
assistance, such as transport at earlier or later times of during the school day.  Schools are 
responsible for arranging and paying for the cost of such transport.  Where a pupil is on the roll at 
one school but visits another school for inclusion or link purposes, the school where the pupil is 
usually based will be responsible for arranging and paying for transport.  These arrangements also 
apply to pupil referral units.  

Children attending residential placements

Children who attend a residential school that has been named in their EHCP will be entitled to travel 
assistance to take them to and from school as follows:

 Weekly/Fortnightly boarding placements – travel assistance will be provided to for children 
to travel to school on a Sunday evening/Monday morning, as directed by the school, and to 
travel home at the end of each week/fortnight, or earlier as directed by the school for 
unplanned or planned earlier closures.

 Termly residential placements – travel assistance will be provided for 12 single journeys to 
cover travel home at the start and end of each term and half term.

 Permanent (52 week) residential placements – travel assistance will be provided for 12 
single journeys each academic year. These are at the discretion of the parent and school but, 

Page 78



where contracted transport is needed, this needs to be booked at least 10 days in advance 
through Surrey’s Transport Coordination Centre

                Any additional trips will be the responsibility of the parent. 

Passenger Assistants

Passenger assistants (escorts) are not automatically provided. In considering whether a route needs 
a passenger assistant, the Council generally takes account of the following:

 A child’s medical needs, particularly where rescue medication is required.
 Where an individual child’s needs create a clear danger or health and safety risk to 

themselves and other passengers on the vehicle.
 Where the number of children travelling together necessitates the provision of a passenger 

assistant to help manage a group children and their specific support needs on the journey.

Passenger assistants for SEND purposes are assessed on a case-by-case basis.  Provision of a 
passenger assistants at any one time does not guarantee that this will be an ongoing arrangement; 
the requirement can be reassessed at any time in the academic year, and in the event of any change 
in circumstances. 

Shared travel

Ordinarily children and young people travelling to and from school or college will be expected to 
share their transport with other children or young people.  This promotes integration and 
independence, social skills as well as being more environmentally sustainable and cost effective.  
Conversely, travelling on their own may lead to social isolation of a young person and a delay in 
development of essential social behaviours and skills.  It also impacts on an individual’s ability to 
access other forms of travel and to travel with others.

Where arrangements are made for a child or young person to travel on their own, due to for 
instance medical reasons, this should not be seen as a permanent arrangement.  The Council will 
review these arrangement on an ongoing basis to ensure they remain in the best interests of the 
child or young person.

Behaviour of children on transport

Children, parents, carers, schools, transport operators and the Council all have a role to play in 
ensuring the appropriate behaviour of children on school transport. 

While passenger assistants have a responsibility for safeguarding children and maintaining 
behavioural standards on the vehicle during the course of the journey, schools will take whatever 
steps possible to ensure the appropriate behaviour of their students on home to school transport; 
and will take appropriate action should incidents of poor behaviour be reported. Appropriate action 
may include the use of sanctions, written warnings and exclusion from transport. Parents are also 
expected to take responsibility for their child’s behaviour while travelling.

Where a child’s behaviour is directly as a result of a known and diagnosed medical condition and it is 
agreed by medical advisors and teachers that the child has no control over their behaviour, the 
Council will undertake a needs assessment and will consider making alternative arrangements, for 
example, providing the parent or carer with a mileage allowance or direct payments to make their 
child’s own travel arrangements.

Page 79



The Council recognises that general poor behaviour, not directly attributable to a child’s particular 
special educational needs and circumstances, cannot be taken into account when determining an 
appropriate safe travel plan.   The Council will expect clear standards of acceptable behaviour in the 
interests of ensuring a safe journey for all pupils and staff as well as other road users.

Reasonable adjustments will be made in cases where behaviour problems persist and it is judged 
that the safety of the other passengers is endangered. Where reasonable adjustments cannot be 
made to deal with behaviour, transport can be withdrawn in individual cases and the Council will 
provide resources for parents to make alternative travel arrangements. 

In consultation with schools, the Council may instigate permanent or fixed periods of exclusion from 
transport. Parents or carers will be responsible for transporting their children during any period of 
exclusion and ensuring their child’s regular attendance at school. 

Parental choice

Where a parent or carer has decided that they do not wish for their child to go to the school or 
college that the Council has decided can meet the student’s needs and decides to seek a placement 
at an alternative setting further away, transport will not be provided.  The implications of 
transporting their son/daughter to a setting other than the school that has been assessed as the 
nearest school that can meet a child’s needs should be considered and alternative travel 
arrangements should be made.

Applying for transport

Parents and carers should be aware that it can take some time to arrange transport and are advised 
to apply as soon as they know that they require transport for their child, if they believe the child 
meets the eligibility criteria. Details of timescales, deadlines and arrangements can be found on 
www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport.

A transport application form will need to be completed for children under the following 
circumstances, if the parent believes that their child might qualify for free transport under this 
policy:

 Surrey children who have an EHCP
 Surrey children who are due to start primary school in reception or transfer to year 3 from 

another school.
 Surrey children who are due to transfer to a University Technical College or Studio School at year 

10. 
 Parents who are entitled to free school meals or those whose families are in receipt of the 

maximum level of Working Tax Credit and who believe they will qualify for free transport under 
the provisions in paragraphs 2.4, 2.5 and 3.1 of this policy. Evidence of free school meals or 
eligibility to the maximum level of Working tax Credit must be provided with the application 
form. Assistance on this basis will be reviewed annually.

 Parents who apply late for their child to transfer to year 7 at secondary school and whose 
application is processed after the national offer day.

The online application is available at www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport.  Alternatively, a hard 
copy can be requested from Surrey County Council on 0300 200 1004. 

Page 80

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/schooltransport


Travel assistance agreed in error

Transport that has been agreed in error or as a result of incorrect, misleading or fraudulent 
information will be withdrawn. Surrey County Council will seek reimbursement of any costs that 
have been obtained fraudulently and reserve the right to take legal action against any person who 
has made a fraudulent application for free home to school transport.

How we use your data

Surrey County Council respects your rights and is committed to ensuring that it manages your data in 
accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 
You can find out more about how we manage your data on the privacy notice section of our website 
at www.surreycc.gov.uk/your-council/your-privacy.

Page 81

http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/your-council/your-privacy


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Home to School/College Travel and Transport Policy
	Annex A Home to school_college transport consultation analysis final
	Annex B Home to school_college EIA final
	Annex C Home to School College Travel Policy final


